

RECEIVED: February 8, 2023 ACCEPTED: April 4, 2023 PUBLISHED: April 28, 2023

A microscopic analogue of the BMS group

Daniel Alexander Weiss

Arnold Sommerfeld Center for Theoretical Physics, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Theresienstr. 37, D-80333 Munich, Germany

E-mail: weiss.daniel@physik.uni-muenchen.de

Abstract: We consider a microscopic analogue of the BMS analysis of asymptotic symmetries by analysing universal geometric structures on infinitesimal tangent light cones. Thereby, two natural microscopic symmetry groups arise: a non-trivially represented Lorentz group and a BMS-like group. The latter has a rich mathematical structure, since it contains the former as a non-canonical subgroup, next to infinitely many other Lorentz subgroups. None of those Lorentz subgroups appears to be intrinsically preferred, and hence, the microscopic BMS-like group constitutes a natural symmetry group for infinitesimal tangent light cones. We compare our investigation with the classical BMS analysis and show, that the microscopic BMS-like group is a gauge group for the bundle of null vectors. Motivated by the various applications of the original BMS group, our findings could have interesting implications: they identify a geometric structure that could be suitable for a bulk analysis of gravitational waves, they suggest a possible enlargement of the fundamental gauge group of gravity and they motivate the possibility of an interrelation between the UV structure of gauge theories, gravitational memory effects and BMS-like symmetries. Also, our results imply, that BMS-like groups arise not only as macroscopic, asymptotic symmetry groups in cosmology, but describe also a fundamental and seemingly unknown microscopic symmetry of pseudo-Riemannian geometry.

KEYWORDS: Gauge Symmetry, Space-Time Symmetries, Classical Theories of Gravity, Scale and Conformal Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2302.03111

Contents

1	Introduction	:
2	Tangent light cones and their universal geometric structures	ţ
	2.1 The light cone bundle	Į
	2.2 Universal structures on tangent light cones	,
3	Automorphism groups of tangent light cones	1
	3.1 Generalities	1
	3.2 The isometry group	14
	3.3 The conformal automorphism group	15
	3.4 Summary	10
4	Structure of the automorphism groups	16
	4.1 Structure of the conformal automorphism group	1'
	4.2 Lorentz subgroups in terms of crossed homomorphisms	18
	4.3 Characterization of the subgroup of isometries	19
	4.3.1 Intrinsic characterization	20
	4.3.2 Extrinsic characterization	2
	4.4 On length gauges and Lorentz subgroups	2
5	Comparison with the original BMS analysis	2 4
	5.1 Methodology	2
	5.2 Group structure	28
	5.3 Conclusion	2'
6	The automorphism groups as gauge groups for the light cone bund	le 2 7
7	Discussion	30
	7.1 Summary	30
	7.2 On possible implications	3
	7.3 Other open questions and relation to the literature	3 ²
A	The Lorentz-Möbius correspondence as adapted to our situation	38
	A.1 The Riemann sphere and Möbius transformations	36
	A.2 Spin representation of light cone bundle trivializations	38
	A.3 The Lorentz-Möbius correspondence and associated null vector rescaling	s 39
В	Prerequisites from group theory	40
	B.1 Right semidirect product groups	4
	B.2 Crossed homomorphisms	4

1 Introduction

In their seminal works from 1962 (cf. [1-3]) Bondi, Metzner, van der Burg and Sachs derived among other results, that the asymptotic symmetry group of asymptotically flat spacetimes at null infinity is not given by the Poincaré group, but by an infinite dimensional generalization, that goes today under the name of the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs (BMS) group. This discovery not only laid the foundation for a coordinate invariant analysis of gravitational waves (cf. [1, 2]), but stimulated a lot of research till today: it found application in numerical relativity (cf. [4, 5]), led more recently to the formulation of celestial holography (cf. e.g. [6]) and even triggered deep insights into the structure of gauge theories on asymptotically flat spacetimes ([7]). In a modern language (cf. [8, 9]), the original BMSanalysis can be most easily understood by performing a conformal compactification ([10]) of the considered spacetime. In this scenario, null infinity becomes a 3-dimensional null manifold which represents a boundary of the compactified bulk spacetime. As such, it inherits several universal geometric structures from the bulk, that are independent of the specific spacetime under consideration. The symmetry group of those structures is then given by the BMS-group, which describes the asymptotic symmetries that are encompassed by all asymptotically flat spacetimes (cf. [8, 9]).

The classic BMS group can hence be understood as a macroscopic symmetry group. It encodes, how spacetimes behave asymptotically at the largest scales. But one could also wonder about the microscopic asymptotics and could hence ask the opposite question: is there a microscopic analogue of the BMS group which describes, how spacetimes behave asymptotically at microscopic scales? On the first glimpse, this question seems to be trivial. The Einstein equivalence principle (cf. e.g. [11]) tells us directly, that every spacetime behaves microscopically like flat Minkowski space. Hence, the microscopic symmetry group of general relativity should be given by the Lorentz group. This is of course true in some sense and can be formalized in terms of the vielbein formalism (cf. e.g. [11]), where the Lorentz group appears as a microscopic gauge freedom in the choice of local inertial frames. But if one compares this with the classic BMS analysis, one will realize, that this is not the correct microscopic analogue the original BMS analysis.

In the original BMS analysis, solely null infinity was analysed (cf. [8, 9]), since gravitational waves are assumed to travel along null rays. Spacelike or timelike directions were discarded. Hence, a microscopic analogue of the classical BMS-analysis should also focus just on microscopic null directions and should consider a microscopic analogue of null infinity. Or more precisely: one should identify the universal structures, that are induced on a natural microscopic null surface that is common to all spacetimes and determine their symmetry group. But which natural microscopic null surface exists in any spacetime? Here again the Einstein equivalence principle comes in, as it states, that any spacetime behaves microscopically (or better, infinitesimally) like Minkowski space. This criterion could hence be understood as a microscopic analogue of asymptotic flatness, since it says, that any spacetime behaves in the microscopic limit asymptotically like flat spacetime. And precisely, as (macroscopic) asymptotic flatness singles out null infinity as the natural macroscopic null surface for the classic BMS analysis, the Einstein equivalence principle, interpreted as a microscopic asymptotic flatness criterion, singles out infinitesimal tangent light cones

as natural candidates for a microscopic BMS analysis. Consequently, one can ask in full analogy to the macroscopic case: which universal structures on infinitesimal tangent light cones are common to all spacetimes satisfying the Einstein equivalence principle, what are the symmetries of those structures and what is the structure and the interpretation of the occurring symmetry groups? Those questions will be answered in this article and thereby we will uncover some interesting structures hidden in the theory of relativity. Especially, we will show as a main result, that a microscopic symmetry group appears, whose structure resembles the original BMS group and which is eligible as a gauge group for the bundle of null vectors for a generic spacetime.

After this overview of the motivation and philosophy behind our work, we would like to present now its line of argumentation in a concise way. Therefore recall first, that usually the set of null vectors is "identified" with its space of directions, which is commonly denoted as the celestial sphere. Under this identification, the Lorentz group is isomorphic to the Möbius group of conformal automorphisms of the Riemann sphere (cf. e.g. [12, 13]). Nevertheless we will see, that null vectors transform under Lorentz transformations not only by a change of their direction, but also by a rescaling of their "length". This behaviour is discarded by the common "identification" of the set of null vectors with the celestial sphere and one could ask, if there is some non-trivial information hidden in those rescalings. At a first glimpse, one might be tempted to think, that no non-trivial coordinate invariant information could be encoded in the length — and consequently also in rescalings — of null vectors, since the metric is degenerate for them. Moreover, the above mentioned isomorphism between the Lorentz and the Möbius group suggests, that there is no interesting information left, which could be encoded in non-trivial rescalings. But this intuition is only partially correct: we will see, that the metric constitutes a kind of distance function on each tangent light cone, although it is degenerate thereon. Metric degeneracy translates then to the statement, that the distance between two null vectors pointing in the same direction is zero. This distance function can then be related to a degenerate Riemannian metric on each tangent light cone and constitutes, together with other, more elementary properties inherited from the ambient tangent space, a set of universal geometric structures existent on any infinitesimal light cone. Those structures are then a microscopic analogue of the macroscopic universal structures at null infinity identified in the original BMS analysis.

One can then start to analyse those automorphisms of tangent light cones, which preserve the identified universal structures and thereby a basic question appears: how should the metric, that appears along above lines on any infinitesimal tangent light cone, be interpreted? As a fixed degenerate metric or as a representative of a conformal equivalence class of degenerate metrics? The former interpretation will lead to a group of isometries, while the latter will give rise to a conformal automorphism group. More or less surprisingly, the non-trivial rescalings of null vectors will appear again if one analyses the isometry group: those rescalings are needed to compensate the appearing conformal factor in the metric on the light cone, which is induced by the action of Möbius transformations on the Riemann sphere.

If one analyses then the mathematical structure of the conformal automorphism group, some interesting properties appear: it can be written as a semidirect product of the Möbius group with a group of smooth, real valued functions on the Riemann sphere, which resembles the structure of the original BMS group. Moreover, it incorporates infinitely many Lorentz subgroups. The isometry group constitutes then just one of those Lorentz subgroups and can be shown to be induced by the standard representation of the Lorentz group on a single tangent space. By investigating those Lorentz subgroups more thoroughly, one realizes, that each Lorentz subgroup singles out a class of length gauges for null vectors, i.e. they set a scale for null vectors. For example, the subgroup of isometries is associated with the 3-length of null vectors in a vielbein frame. But this seems unsatisfactory: as said before, by metric degeneracy there is no preferred notion of length associated with a single null direction and by this, no structure on the light cone should single out a scale for null vectors. This suggests, that intrinsically no Lorentz subgroup of the conformal automorphism group is preferred and by this it seems, that the conformal automorphism group is intrinsically the more natural symmetry group for tangent light cones. From this point of view, we will then get also a different perspective on the conformal automorphism group: if one tries to introduce meaningful notions of length for null vectors, one necessarily has to enlarge the class of allowed coordinate systems, such that all possible length gauges are included. By doing so, also the symmetry group gets enlarged to the conformal automorphism group, which describes then rescalings of null vector lengths and associated Lorentz transformation laws in an invariant way. But by this, the original Lorentz group action on null vectors looses its distinguished role and infinitely many Lorentz transformation laws appear. This is a way, in which the microscopic BMS-like conformal automorphism group could be interpreted.

Now one could ask, what benefit one could draw from the existence of such a group. Therefore we will show finally, that the isomtery group and the conformal automorphism group are suitable as gauge groups for the bundle of future pointing null vectors. By this we have especially identified a geometric entity, that exists on the bulk of any spacetime and is associated with a BMS-like group. The benefit of this structure has of course to be proven in the future, but motivated by the various applications of the original BMS group we think, that this finding could have interesting implications: on the one hand, the existence of the BMS-like gauge group on the bundle of tangent light cones could lead to a bulk counterpart of the original BMS-analysis of gravitational waves and rises in addition questions regarding the fundamental symmetry group of gravity. On the other hand, given the recent discovery of connections between the BMS group, soft theorems and memory effects denoted commonly as the "IR-triangle" [7, 14], our findings motivate the question, if there could exist an analogous "UV-triangle".

Finally we would like to mention, that the original BMS analysis incorporated of course not only the investigation of universal structures at null infinity and their symmetries, but also the examination of induced higher order structures, dynamical considerations and the analysis of gravitational waves. The microscopic analogues of those questions are not analysed in this article and will be, as sketched in the last paragraph, an object of future research.

Organization of the article. In section 2 we will introduce the light cone bundle of a generic spacetime and will identify the universal geometric structures that are induced

on infinitesimal tangent light cones by the ambient spacetime geometry as motivated by Einstein's equivalence principle. Thereby we will also explain concisely, how null vectors rescale under standard Lorentz transformations. In section 3 we will analyse those automorphisms of a single infinitesimal tangent light cone, that preserve the universal structure either up to isometry or up to conformal equivalence. In addition, we will define the corresponding automorphism groups. In section 4 we will analyse the structure of those automorphism groups thoroughly. Especially we will show, that the conformal automorphism group can be written as a right semidirect product group that contains infinitely many Lorentz subgroups. We will also explain, how those Lorentz subgroups can be parametrized and how the subgroup of isometries arises as a specific Lorentz subgroup. Moreover we will explain, how Lorentz subgroups correspond to length gauges for null vectors and why this motivates the claim, that the conformal automorphism group could be a more natural symmetry group for tangent light cones than any Lorentz subgroup. Dually we will understand thereby, that the conformal automorphism group could be interpreted as a group which encodes all possible length gauges for null vectors as well as their Lorentz transformation properties. In section 5 we will compare our analysis with the original BMS analysis, which will justify, why the conformal automorphism group is called a microscopic analogue of the BMS group. In section 6 we will sketch, how the conformal automorphism group and its isometry subgroup constitute gauge groups for the light cone bundle. In section 7 we will conclude the article by summarizing its findings and by discussing possible implications as well as remaining open questions. In appendix A we will review some basic facts on the Riemann sphere and its automorphisms. Moreover we will derive a convenient representation of coordinate systems of the light cone and will derive a transformation law (including rescalings) for null vectors under Lorentz transformations. In appendix B we will review some prerequisites from group theory.

Notations and conventions. Throughout the present document, \mathcal{M} denotes a time- and space-orientable spacetime with pseudo-Riemannian metric g of signature (-1, +1, +1, +1). η will denote the Minkowski metric $\eta = \operatorname{diag}(-1, +1, +1, +1)$. We will denote the tangent bundle of \mathcal{M} by $T_{\mathcal{M}}$ and the tangent space at $p \in \mathcal{M}$ by $T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{M}$. Moreover, we will write TU for the restriction of $T\mathcal{M}$ to an open set $U \subset \mathcal{M}$. The space of vector fields over an open set $U \subset \mathcal{M}$ will be written as $\mathfrak{X}(U)$ and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{M})$ denotes the global timelike vector field that describes the time orientation of \mathcal{M} . We assume in addition, that X is normed, i.e. g(X,X)=-1, and denote the restriction of X to $T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{M}$ by $X_{\mathcal{P}}$. We denote the proper orthochronous Lorentz group by $SO^+(1,3)$ and the group of all complex 2×2 matrices with unit determinant by $SL(2,\mathbb{C})$. Unit elements of matrix groups will be denoted by 1. Due to orientability of \mathcal{M} , the structure group of $T\mathcal{M}$ is reduced to $SO^+(1,3)$, i.e. there exist bundle atlases for $T\mathcal{M}$ whose transition functions lie in $SO^+(1,3)$. Let \mathcal{C} be an open cover. We will then denote in the sequel by $\mathcal{A} = \{(U,\psi)|U \in \mathcal{C}\}$ an atlas consisting out of local trivializations

$$\psi: TU \to U \times \mathbb{R}^4 \tag{1.1}$$

that are induced by vielbein frames. I.e. for each $(U, \psi) \in \mathcal{A}$ there is an associated vielbein frame $(U, (E_{\mu})_{\mu=0,\dots,3})$ with $E_{\mu} \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ satisfying

$$g(E_{\mu}, E_{\nu}) = \eta_{\mu\nu} \tag{1.2}$$

$$g(E_0, X) = -1 (1.3)$$

such that for any $v = v^{\mu} E_{\mu} \in T_{p} \mathcal{M}$ with $p \in U$

$$\psi(v^{\mu}E_{\mu}) = (p, (v^{\mu})) \tag{1.4}$$

holds. We will denote in the sequel vielbein frames just by (U, E_{μ}) or (E_{μ}) . We will write the restriction of g to $T_p \mathcal{M}$ as g_p . Let $p \in U$. The restriction of (U, ψ) to $T_p \mathcal{M}$ with $p \in U$ will be written as

$$\psi_p: T_p \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{R}^4, \ v^{\mu} E_{\mu} \mapsto (v^{\mu}), \tag{1.5}$$

where (E_{μ}) is the vielbein associated to (U, ψ) . The restriction of E_{μ} to $p \in U$ will just be denoted by E_{μ} . The euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^3 will be denoted by $|\cdot|$. Moreover we define the 2-sphere $S^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ as

$$S^{2} := \left\{ \hat{e} = (\hat{e}^{1}, \hat{e}^{2}, \hat{e}^{3}) \in \mathbb{R}^{3} \middle| |\hat{e}| = 1 \right\}$$
 (1.6)

and denote the Riemann sphere by $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} := \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$. Coordinate expressions in \mathbb{R}^4 will always be written as (v^{μ}) and vectors in \mathbb{R}^3 by \vec{v} or (v^i) . Unit vectors in \mathbb{R}^3 will be denoted by \hat{v} . For a 4-vector (v^0, v^1, v^2, v^3) we define $\vec{v} := (v^1, v^2, v^3) = (v^i)$. All structures affiliated with the Riemann sphere will be introduced in the main text when they are needed and are additionally reviewed concisely in appendix A.1. Finally, we define $\mathbb{R}^+ := (0, \infty)$ and denote the set of positive valued smooth functions on \mathbb{C}_{∞} by $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$. Smooth functions associated with other domains are denoted analogously by $C^{\infty}(\cdot, \cdot)$. Products of smooth functions and numbers will be denoted by \cdot .

2 Tangent light cones and their universal geometric structures

In this section, we will introduce the basic geometric entity of our study, namely the bundle of future pointing light cones associated with a spacetime \mathcal{M} , and will analyse, which universal geometric structures are present on its fibers, as induced by the microscopic geometry of the generic spacetime \mathcal{M} . Therefore, in section 2.1 we will define the notion of tangent light cones as well as the light cone bundle. In addition, we will establish a bundle atlas for the light cone bundle, that is induced by the bundle atlas \mathcal{A} of $T\mathcal{M}$ and is hence associated with vielbein frames. Moreover, we will sketch briefly, how transition functions look like for this bundle, and thereby, we will understand qualitatively how null vectors behave under Lorentz transformations. In section 2.2 we will then investigate, which universal geometric structures on infinitesimal tangent light cones are induced by the microscopic geometry of \mathcal{M} , independently of the macroscopic behaviour of the metric g.

2.1 The light cone bundle

We define the pointed future tangent light cone at $p \in \mathcal{M}$ as

$$L_p^+ \mathcal{M} := \{ v \in T_p \mathcal{M} | g_p(v, v) = 0 \text{ and } g(X_p, v) < 0 \}$$
 (2.1)

 $^{^{1}}$ The analysis presented in this article goes completely analogous for past light cones and the associated past light cone bundle. Since \mathcal{M} is time orientable, we focus hence without loss of generality solely on future light cones.

and by this, we define the future light cone bundle as the following sub-fiberbundle of $T\mathcal{M}$:

$$L^{+}\mathcal{M} := \bigsqcup_{p \in \mathcal{M}} L_{p}^{+}\mathcal{M} \subset T\mathcal{M}$$
 (2.2)

For any open set $U \subset \mathcal{M}$ we will denote the restriction of $L^+\mathcal{M}$ to U by L^+U . We now introduce a class of suitable coordinate systems for $L^+\mathcal{M}$ which are induced by the bundle charts $(U, \psi) \in \mathcal{A}$ of $T\mathcal{M}$. We will then see especially, that the typical fiber of $L^+\mathcal{M}$ is diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$, i.e. for any $p \in \mathcal{M}$

$$L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \cong \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \tag{2.3}$$

holds. Here, \mathbb{C}_{∞} will be interpreted as a space of null directions and \mathbb{R}^+ as a "length" for null vectors. Therefore let $(U,\psi) \in \mathcal{A}$ be a bundle trivialization of $T\mathscr{M}$ and let (E_{μ}) be the associated vielbein. We then have for $v \in L_p^+\mathscr{M}$, that its coordinate representation $\psi_p(v) = (v^{\mu})$ satisfies $v^0 = |\vec{v}|$, where we set $\vec{v} := (v^1, v^2, v^3)$. By this we can write $(v^{\mu}) = |\vec{v}| \cdot (1, \hat{v})$, where we have defined $\hat{v} := |\vec{v}|^{-1}\vec{v}$. Since $v^0 = |\vec{v}| > 0$ and $\hat{v} \in S^2$, we get therewith an identification

$$\tilde{\psi}_p^+: L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+, v^{\mu} E_{\mu} \mapsto (\hat{v}, |\vec{v}|), \tag{2.4}$$

of the tangent lightcone at p with $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$. This gives then rise to a smooth bundle trivialization

$$\tilde{\psi}^+: L^+U \to U \times (S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+), v^{\mu}E_{\mu} \in T_p \mathcal{M} \mapsto (p, (\hat{v}, |\vec{v}|)). \tag{2.5}$$

We now utilize the stereographic projection defined as²

$$\rho: S^2 \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \hat{v} \mapsto \rho(\hat{v}) := \frac{\hat{v}^1 + i\hat{v}^2}{1 - \hat{v}^3}, \tag{2.6}$$

which constitutes a diffeomorphism. By this we get an identification

$$\psi_p^+: L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, v \mapsto \left(z_p^{\psi}(v), \lambda_p^{\psi}(v)\right) \tag{2.7}$$

explicitely given by:

$$z_p^{\psi}(v^{\mu}E_{\mu}) := \rho(\hat{v}) = \frac{v^1 + iv^2}{v^0 - v^3}$$
(2.8)

$$\lambda_p^{\psi}(v^{\mu}E_{\mu}) := |\vec{v}| = v^0. \tag{2.9}$$

This induces a smooth bundle trivialization

$$\psi^+: L^+U \to U \times (\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+), v \in T_p \mathscr{M} \mapsto \left(p, (z_p^{\psi}(v), \lambda_p^{\psi}(v))\right). \tag{2.10}$$

By this we have constructed a bundle atlas

$$\mathcal{B} := \{ (U, \psi^+) | (U, \psi) \in \mathcal{A} \}$$
 (2.11)

²We adopt the convention from [12], which differs from the convention that is usually used in literature.

for the fiber bundle $L^+\mathcal{M}$, where for any $(U,\psi) \in \mathcal{A}$, the trivialization ψ^+ is given by the associated map (2.10). For $p \in U$, the restriction of any trivialization $(U,\psi^+) \in \mathcal{B}$ to $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ will be denoted by ψ_p^+ as given by (2.7) and we will denote the set of all such restrictions by \mathcal{B}_p . Since Lorentz transformations preserve light cones, it is easy to show, that the transition functions of \mathcal{B} are indeed smooth and preserve the fibers of $L^+\mathcal{M}$. Unfortunately, at the present stage we are not able to derive the precise form of the transition functions of \mathcal{B} in a convenient representation. Nevertheless, we want to sketch already briefly the result, since it is illustrative for the understanding of the paper, although not absolutely necessary. The full discussion will then follow in sections 4.3.2 and 6 as well as in appendix A.3. Hence, an impatient reader can also jump directly to the next subsection. Now let $p \in U$, set $v = v^{\mu} E_{\mu} \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ and $w = \Lambda^{\mu}_{\nu} v^{\nu} E_{\mu}$. Define in addition

$$(z,\lambda) := \psi_p^+(v), \tag{2.12}$$

$$(z', \lambda') := \psi_n^+(w).$$
 (2.13)

One can then show by utilization of the standard isomorphism between the Lorentz group $SO^+(1,3)$ and the automorphism group of \mathbb{C}_{∞} (cf. appendix A.3 or [12, 13]), that there is a unique automorphism (i.e. a Möbius transformation, cf. appendix A.1) $Z_{\Lambda}: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$ of \mathbb{C}_{∞} associated to Λ s.th.

$$z' = Z_{\Lambda}(z) \tag{2.14}$$

holds. By utilization of (2.9) we have naivly

$$\lambda' = \Lambda^0_{\ \mu} v^{\mu},\tag{2.15}$$

which is not a very helpful representation, since it does not depend explicitly on z and λ . But by some more advanced techniques (cf. appendix A.3) one can indeed show, that there is for each Lorentz transformation $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$ an associated function $f_{\Lambda} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$ such that

$$\lambda' = f_{\Lambda}(z)\lambda \tag{2.16}$$

holds. In this form, this is to the best of our knowledge an original result of this article. The concrete form of the function f_{Λ} is not of importance now and will be understood in section 4.3.2. At the present stage, just a qualitative understanding of equations (2.14) and (2.16) is sufficient: they state, that a Lorentz transformation acts on null vectors by a conformal transformation (2.14) on their space of directions \mathbb{C}_{∞} , together with a non-trivial, direction dependent rescaling (2.16) of their "length". The latter can be understood by recalling, that

$$\lambda = |\vec{v}| = v^0 \tag{2.17}$$

$$\lambda' = |\vec{w}| = w^0 \tag{2.18}$$

hold by (2.12)–(2.13). We will understand later on, which non-trivial information is encoded in those rescalings.

2.2 Universal structures on tangent light cones

We now want to analyse the geometric structures that are, independently of the macroscopic behaviour of the gravitational field, induced on tangent light cones $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ by the geometry

of their ambient tangent spaces $T_p\mathcal{M}$. Those universal structures are linked to Einstein's equivalence principle, that is commonly stated as (cf. [11]):

In small enough regions of spacetime, the laws of physics reduce to those of special relativity; it is impossible to detect the existence of a gravitational field by means of local experiments.

This statement should be understood as an asymptotic statement: in the infinitesimal limit (and hence, strictly speaking, not locally³), any spacetime behaves asymptotically like flat spacetime. Geometrically, this is formalized by the linear structure of any tangent space $T_p\mathcal{M}$ and by the property, that the metric g reduces to an inner product g_p on $T_p\mathcal{M}$ which can be brought to Minkowski form η by choice of a vielbein frame. Hence the question of this section will be: what universal structures are induced on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ by the linear structure of $T_p\mathcal{M}$ and by the inner product g_p ? And what are the coordinate expressions of those structures in the coordinate systems \mathcal{B}_p ?

For the analysis of those questions, choose a $p \in \mathcal{M}$ and let $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ be a coordinate system of the form (2.7). Observe then first, that $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ inherits, as a subspace of the tangent space at p, a topology and a smooth structure, that can be equally characterized by the observation, that (2.7) is a diffeomorphism:

(S1) $L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \cong \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ as a differentiable manifold.

Moreover, although $L_p^+\mathcal{M} \subset T_p\mathcal{M}$ is no linear subspace, it is a linear cone and as such it inherits a notion of multiplication with scalars from $T_p\mathcal{M}$:

(S2) $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ is a linear cone, in the sense, that for all $\alpha > 0$ and all $v \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$

$$\alpha \cdot v \in L_n^+ \mathcal{M} \tag{2.19}$$

holds.

Please notice at this point, that any coordinate system $\psi^+ \in \mathcal{B}$ respects this cone structure, since for all $\alpha > 0$ also

$$z_p^{\psi}(\alpha \cdot v) = z_p^{\psi}(v), \tag{2.20}$$

$$\lambda_p^{\psi}(\alpha \cdot v) = \alpha \cdot \lambda_p^{\psi}(v) \tag{2.21}$$

hold. In addition, there is a kind of complex structure, which is induced by the complex structure on \mathbb{C}_{∞} under the identification of $L_p^+\mathscr{M}$ with $\mathbb{C}_{\infty}\times\mathbb{R}^+$:

³Although "local" and "infinitesimal" are often used synonymous in the context of general relativity, there is a difference between those concepts: infinitesimal objects are associated with the infinitesimal limit, i.e. with tangent spaces, while local objects are associated with (small) open sets and local coordinate systems. Those notions are hence not equivalent: for example, infinitesimally, one can always find vielbein frames in which the metric has Minkowski form, while it is not possible to find a local coordinate system with this property for a generic curved spacetime, cf. [15]. The latter can especially be formalized in terms of Riemann normal coordinates, cf. [11, 15] and section 5.

(S3) There is a set \mathcal{Z}_p that includes exactly all surjective maps

$$z_p: L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$$
 (2.22)

which satisfy the requirement, that

$$z_p^{\psi} \circ z_p^{-1} : \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \tag{2.23}$$

is a biholomorphic automorphism of \mathbb{C}_{∞} and hence a Möbius transformation.

Please consult appendix A.1, if you are not familiar with the notion of Möbius transformations. Finally we want to analyse, which structure on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ is induced by the metric g. Prima facie, one could be tempted to think, that no interesting structure on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ is induced by the metric, since the latter is degenerate on thereon. But we will see, that this is not true. Therefore we will first introduce the inverse of the stereographic projection ρ , which will be denoted by $\hat{\epsilon} := \rho^{-1}$, and is explicitly given by (cf. [12] or appendix A.1)

$$\hat{\epsilon}: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to S^2, z \mapsto \hat{\epsilon}(z) := (\hat{\epsilon}^1(z), \hat{\epsilon}^2(z), \hat{\epsilon}^3(z)) \tag{2.24}$$

with:

$$\hat{\epsilon}^1(z) = \frac{z + \bar{z}}{z\bar{z} + 1},\tag{2.25}$$

$$\hat{\epsilon}^2(z) = \frac{1}{i} \frac{z - \bar{z}}{z\bar{z} + 1},\tag{2.26}$$

$$\hat{\epsilon}^3(z) = \frac{z\bar{z} - 1}{z\bar{z} + 1}.\tag{2.27}$$

We will then write the inverse of ψ_p^+ for convenience as $\theta_p := (\psi_p^+)^{-1}$ and express it in terms of the inverse stereographic projection explicitly as

$$\theta_p: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to L_p^+ \mathcal{M}, (z, \lambda) \mapsto \lambda \cdot \hat{\epsilon}^{\mu}(z) E_{\mu},$$
 (2.28)

where we set $\hat{\epsilon}^0 := 1$. By this we can then define a map

$$h_p: (\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+) \times (\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+) \to [0, \infty)$$
 (2.29)

as the negative of the pullback of g_p along θ_p , i.e.:

$$h_p((z_1, \lambda_1), (z_2, \lambda_2)) := -g_p(\theta_p(z_1, \lambda_1), \theta_p(z_2, \lambda_2))$$
 (2.30)

As a somewhat surprising result we obtain then, that h_p is explicitly given by

$$h_p((z_1, \lambda_1), (z_2, \lambda_2)) = \frac{2\lambda_1 \lambda_2 |z_1 - z_2|^2}{(|z_1|^2 + 1)(|z_2|^2 + 1)},$$
(2.31)

which is just

$$h_p((z_1, \lambda_1), (z_2, \lambda_2)) = \frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{2} d^2(z_1, z_2)$$
 (2.32)

with d being the chordal distance (cf. (A.15) and (A.16)) on \mathbb{C}_{∞} given by:

$$d: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to [0, \infty), (z_1, z_2) \mapsto \frac{2|z_1 - z_2|}{\sqrt{|z_1|^2 + 1}\sqrt{|z_2|^2 + 1}}.$$
 (2.33)

Hence, although the metric is degenerate on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, it carries non-trivial information, since it describes a kind of distance function⁴ (2.32) thereon, which is related to the chordal distance on \mathbb{C}_{∞} . We now can ask, if the distance function (2.32) is related to some kind of Riemannian metric on the manifold $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. And indeed, one can show easily, that $\sqrt{h_p}$ is the distance function induced by a degenerate Riemannian metric q_p on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, which is given in any coordinate system $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ by:

$$ds^2 = 2\lambda^2 \frac{dzd\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^2} \tag{2.34}$$

I.e. we have:

(S4) There exists a degenerate metric q_p on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ whose coordinate expression in any coordinate system $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ is given by

$$ds^2 = 2\lambda^2 \frac{dzd\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^2}. (2.35)$$

Please note, that q_p is really a degenerate Riemannian metric on the manifold $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, as (2.34) is a degenerate Riemannian metric on the manifold $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. This is in contrast to the metric g, which is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{M} and gives as such rise to an inner product g_p on $T_p^+\mathcal{M}$. As such, g_p induces then the distance function (2.32) on $L_p^+\mathcal{M} \subset T_p\mathcal{M}$, whose infinitesimalization is then given by (2.34), which describes q_p in the coordinates ψ_p^+ .

Hence we have all together the following universal structures on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$:

- (S1) $L_n^+ \mathscr{M} \cong \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ as a differentiable manifold.
- (S2) $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ is a linear cone, in the sense that for all $\alpha > 0$ and all $v \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$

$$\alpha \cdot v \in L_n^+ \mathcal{M} \tag{2.36}$$

holds.

(S3) There is a set \mathcal{Z}_p which includes exactly all surjective maps

$$z_p: L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \tag{2.37}$$

that satisfy the requirement, that

$$z_p^{\psi} \circ z_p^{-1} : \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$$
 (2.38)

is biholomorphic for any coordinate system $\psi_p^+=(z_p^\psi,\lambda_p^\psi)\in\mathcal{B}_p$ and hence a Möbius transformation.

⁴Please note, that neither h_p nor $\sqrt{h_p}$ constitute (pseudo-)metrics, since they do not obey the triangle equality. Nevertheless, they can be interpreted as distance functions in the present situation, since they are induced by a degenerate Riemannian metric on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ and are related to the chordal distance on \mathbb{C}_{∞} . Therefore we call them distance functions in the sequel.

(S4) There exists a degenerate metric q_p on $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$, whose expression in any local coordinate system $\psi_p^{\psi} \in \mathcal{B}_p$ is given by the metric \tilde{q}_p on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ explicitly given by

$$ds^2 = 2\lambda^2 \frac{dzd\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^2}. (2.39)$$

In the next section we want to analyse the set of automorphisms of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, which preserve those universal geometric structures.

3 Automorphism groups of tangent light cones

In this section we will determine the automorphisms of $L_p^+\mathscr{M}$ which preserve the universal structures (S1)–(S4) in a certain sense. As explained in the introduction, the crucial question is how to interpret the structure (S4): should it be understood as a single degenerate metric or as a representative of a conformal equivalence class on $L_p^+\mathscr{M} \cong \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+$? The former will lead to a group of isometries, while the latter will give a conformal automorphism group. There are arguments for both positions and we will comment on this more extensively in sections 4.4 and 7. But in this section, we won't bother with this question and just determine the respective automorphism groups for both interpretations. Therefore we will explain some generalities regarding automorphism groups of $L_p^+\mathscr{M}$ in section 3.1 and will especially analyse there, how the structures (S1)–(S3) already fix the form of suitable automorphisms to a great extent, independent of the interpretation of (S4). Moreover, we will review in this subsection some basics regarding Möbius transformations and metrics on the Riemann sphere, which are needed in the sequel. In section 3.2 we will then determine the group of isometries, while in section 3.3 we will determine the conformal automorphism group.

3.1 Generalities

An automorphism group of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ is a set of all maps

$$\Pi_p: L_p^+ \mathcal{M} \to L_p^+ \mathcal{M} \tag{3.1}$$

which preserve the universal structures (S1)–(S4) in a specific sense, together with the composition \circ as a group operation. By choosing an arbitrary but fixed coordinate system $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$, one notices, that a map Π_p preserves the structures (S1)–(S4) in a specified sense if and only if the associated coordinate representation of Π_p given by

$$\psi_p^+ \circ \Pi_p \circ \theta_p : \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+$$
 (3.2)

preserves the induced universal structures on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ in the analogous specified sense. Here we set again for convenience $\theta_p := (\psi_p^+)^{-1}$. Additionally, the group multiplication law \circ is preserved under conjugation with ψ_p^+ and hence any automorphism group of $L_p^+ \mathscr{M}$ is naturally isomorphic to the corresponding automorphism group of the induced structures on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Hence, we can define the automorphism group $L_p^+ \mathscr{M}$ equally as a group of automorphisms of $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ together with \circ as a group operation and this is what we will do in the sequel, since it is more convenient in the present situation.

As said before, there are two different ways, how one could interpret the structure (S4): either as a degenerate metric on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ or as a representative of a conformal equivalence class thereon. Each of those two interpretations yields then its respective automorphism group. In the former case, the automorphisms constitute isometries of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, while in the latter case they correspond to conformal automorphisms of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. Hence, we will obtain two distinct automorphism groups: the group of isometries Iso_p^+ of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ and the group of conformal automorphisms Con_p^+ of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. Nevertheless, both automorphism groups should preserve the universal structures (S1)–(S3) in the same sense, since those structures are independent of the interpretation of (S4). Therefore, we will discuss now first the requirements on automorphisms as induced by (S1)–(S3). For this, we write first a generic map

$$\Phi_p: \ \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \tag{3.3}$$

in full generality as

$$\Phi_p: (z,\lambda) \mapsto (Z(z,\lambda), Y(z,\lambda)). \tag{3.4}$$

We then have first and foremost the following two requirements for Φ_p , which are induced by (S1) and (S2) respectively:

- (R1) Φ_p is a diffeomorphism.
- (R2) Φ_p is homogeneous in the sense, that for all $\alpha > 0$ and all $(z, \lambda) \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$

$$Z(z, \alpha \cdot \lambda) = Z(z, \lambda)$$
 (3.5)

$$Y(z, \alpha \cdot \lambda) = \alpha \cdot Y(z, \lambda) \tag{3.6}$$

should hold.

Those both requirements fix the form of Φ_p already to a great extent: equation (3.5) and requirement (R1) are together equivalent to the statement, that Z is a smooth automorphism of \mathbb{C}_{∞} which does not depend on the λ -coordinate. Moreover, equation (3.6) and (R2) hold together if and only if there exists a smooth function $Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$ such that

$$Y(z,\lambda) = Y(z) \cdot \lambda \tag{3.7}$$

holds for all $(z, \lambda) \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Consequently, we can write any map (3.3) satisfying the requirements (R1)–(R2) as

$$\Phi_p: \ \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z(z), Y(z) \cdot \lambda) \tag{3.8}$$

with $Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$ and Z being a diffeomorphism $Z : \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$. Now, the complex structure (S3) is preserved if and only if Z is a biholomorphic conformal automorphism of \mathbb{C}_{∞} , i.e. a Möbius transformation. This gives the following requirement:

(R3) Z is a biholomorphic automorphism of the Riemann sphere \mathbb{C}_{∞} , i.e. a Möbius transformation.

All together, any automorphism of $\mathbb{C}^{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ which preserves the structures (S1)–(S3) and satisfies consequently the requirements (R1)–(R3) is given by a map

$$\Phi_p: \ \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z(z), Y(z) \cdot \lambda)$$
(3.9)

with Z being a Möbius transformation and $Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$. Moreover we see, that two automorphisms are equal if and only if their associated Möbius transformations and smooth functions Y are equal, respectively.

In the sequel we will need some basic facts regarding Möbius transformations. Hence, we will recapitulate those facts concisely now, while a more complete account of the corresponding theory is presented in appendix A.1. Therefore recall first, that any Möbius transformation Z can be written as

$$Z: \mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}, z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$
 (3.10)

for complex numbers $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying ad - bc = 1. By this, any matrix $A \in SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ given by

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \tag{3.11}$$

defines an associated Möbius transformation Z^A specified by

$$Z^A(z) := \frac{az+b}{cz+d}. (3.12)$$

Moreover, two matrices $A, B \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ define the same Möbius transformation if and only if A = -B. This defines then an isomorphism between $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) := \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})/\{\pm \mathbf{1}\}$ and the Möbius group, that is explicitly given by

$$[A] \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \mapsto Z^A$$
 (3.13)

with Z^A as defined in (3.12). We will use in the sequel the notions Möbius group and $\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ interchangeably. In addition, we will denote equivalence classes $[A] \in \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ just in terms of one of their representatives, i.e. by slight abuse of notation [A] = A. Now recall further, that \mathbb{C}_{∞} is a Riemann surface and is hence especially endowed with a natural conformal structure (cf. [16]), that can be described in terms of a conformal equivalence class of Riemannian metrics. One representative of this conformal structure is given by the Riemannian metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{4}{(1+z\bar{z})^{2}}dzd\bar{z} \tag{3.14}$$

on \mathbb{C}_{∞} , which is also the Riemannian metric associated with the chordal distance (2.33). The pullback of this metric along a Möbius transformation Z^A as specified by (3.12) is then explicitly given by

$$ds^{2} = K^{A}(z)^{2} \frac{4}{(1+z\bar{z})^{2}} dz d\bar{z}, \qquad (3.15)$$

where the conformal factor $K^A(z)$ associated with a matrix $A \in PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ as specified by (3.11) is explicitly given by

$$K^{A}(z) = \frac{(1+z\bar{z})}{(az+b)(\bar{a}\bar{z}+\bar{b}) + (cz+d)(\bar{c}\bar{z}+\bar{d})},$$
(3.16)

as one can easily calculate. Finally recall, that the Möbius group and the proper orthochronous Lorentz group are isomorphic, i.e. $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})\cong\mathrm{SO}^+(1,3)$, as said before and as described in appendix A.3 (cf. also [12, 13]). The corresponding isomorphism will be written as

$$\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3) \mapsto A_{\Lambda} \in PSL(2,\mathbb{C}).$$
 (3.17)

3.2 The isometry group

We now want to find all maps

$$\Phi_p: \ \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z(z), Y(z) \cdot \lambda)$$
(3.18)

of the form (3.9), such that the following requirement holds:

(R4a) Φ_p is an isometry, i.e.

$$\Phi_p^* \tilde{q}_p = \tilde{q}_p \tag{3.19}$$

is satisfied, where \tilde{q}_p is the metric (2.39) on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ that is induced by the metric q_p on $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$, cf. (S4).

Recall from (S4), that \tilde{q}_p is given by:

$$ds^2 = 2\lambda^2 \frac{dzd\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^2} \tag{3.20}$$

Then its pullback $\Phi_p^* \tilde{q}_p$ can be easily calculated by the utilization of (3.15) and is explicitely given by

$$ds^{2} = 2Y(z)^{2} \lambda^{2} K^{A}(z)^{2} \frac{dz d\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^{2}},$$
(3.21)

where K^A is the conformal factor (6.11). Hence we obtain directly, that Φ_p is an isometry if and only if

$$Y(z) \stackrel{!}{=} K^{A}(z)^{-1} \tag{3.22}$$

holds. We now define

$$f^A := (K^A)^{-1} (3.23)$$

and by this

$$Y(z) \stackrel{!}{=} f^A(z) \tag{3.24}$$

should hold for Φ_p being an isometry. By this we have, that the isometry group of the infinitesimal light cone consists out of all maps Φ_p^A of the form

$$\Phi_p^A: \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, \ (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z_A(z), f^A(z)\lambda), \tag{3.25}$$

where A is any matrix $A \in PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$, together with the composition as the group multiplication law. This group will be denoted in the sequel as:

$$\operatorname{Iso}_{p}^{+} = \left(\{ \Phi_{p}^{A} | A \in \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \}, \circ \right). \tag{3.26}$$

We see already, that it is isomorphic to $\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ as a set, and hence also isomorphic to the Lorentz group $\operatorname{SO}^+(1,3)$ as a set. We will understand in section 4.3.2, that they are also isomorphic as a group, and that Iso_p^+ is induced by local Lorentz transformations acting on $T_p\mathscr{M}$. By this, it is also not a coincidence, that the function (3.23) and the function f_{Λ} which determines the rescalings (2.16) of null vectors under Lorentz transformations are both denoted by the same letter. Indeed, they are the same mathematical object, as we will understand then, too.

3.3 The conformal automorphism group

We now want to find all maps

$$\Psi_n: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z(z), Y(z) \cdot \lambda)$$
 (3.27)

of the form (3.9), such that the following requirement holds:

(R4b) Ψ_p is a conformal automorphism, i.e. there exists a function $\Omega_p \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+)$ s.th.

$$\Psi_p^* \tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)} = \Omega_p(z,\lambda)^2 \tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)} \tag{3.28}$$

holds for all $(z, \lambda) \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Here \tilde{q}_p denotes, as before, the metric (2.39) on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ and $\tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)}$ denotes its pointwise evaluation on the tangent space $T_{(z,\lambda)}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+)$ of $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ at (z,λ) .

Observe, that, due to the form (3.9) of Ψ_p , it follows directly, that the conformal factor must be of the form $\Omega_p(z)$ with $\Omega_p \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$. We have namely as in (3.21)

$$\Psi_p^* \tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)} = Y(z)^2 K^A(z)^2 \tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)}, \tag{3.29}$$

which says, that the conformal factor Ω_p as defined in (3.28) is explicitly given by:

$$\Omega_p(z) = Y(z)K^A(z) \tag{3.30}$$

By this, the group of conformal automorphisms of the infinitesimal light cone consists out of all maps

$$\Psi_p^{(A,Y)} : \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, (z,\lambda) \mapsto (Z_A(z), Y(z) \cdot \lambda), \tag{3.31}$$

with $A \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ and $Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty},\mathbb{R}^+)$, together with the composition as the group multiplication law. This group will be denoted in the sequel as:

$$\operatorname{Con}_{p}^{+} := \left(\{ \Psi_{p}^{(A,Y)} | A \in \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \text{ and } Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^{+}) \}, \circ \right). \tag{3.32}$$

We see already, that it is isomorphic to $\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \times C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty},\mathbb{R}^+)$ as a set. Its non-trivial group structure will be understood in section 4.

We want to remark finally, that the condition (R4b) can be rephrased in a different but equivalent manner. Therefore observe first, that the metric \tilde{q}_p from (2.39) is compatible with the linear cone structure (S2) of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ in the sense, that

$$\tilde{q}_{p,(z,\alpha\lambda)} = \alpha^2 \tilde{q}_{q,(z,\lambda)} \tag{3.33}$$

holds for all $\alpha > 0$. This behaviour is induced by the compatibility of the distance function h_p (2.29) with the cone structure. If one would like to define a conformal equivalence class of metrics on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, all metrics in this class should have this property, because otherwise they would not be compatible with (S2). Hence, two metrics $q_p^{(1)}$ and $q_p^{(2)}$ on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ should be called conformally equivalent, if there exists a positive valued, smooth function $\Omega_p \in C^\infty(\mathbb{C}_\infty, \mathbb{R}^+)$ independent of λ , such that their coordinate expressions $\tilde{q}_p^{(1)}, \tilde{q}_p^{(2)}$ satisfy:

$$\tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)}^{(1)} = \Omega_p(z)^2 \tilde{q}_{p,(z,\lambda)}^{(2)} \tag{3.34}$$

The conformal structure on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ is then the set of all metrics that are in this sense conformally equivalent to the metric (2.39). One can then see easily, that the requirement (R4b) is, due to the requirement (R2), equivalent to the statement, that any conformal automorphism of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ should preserve this conformal structure under pullback.

3.4 Summary

In this section we have found two natural automorphism groups for $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. The first is the group of isometries Iso_p^+ , whose underlying set is given by

$$\operatorname{Iso}_{p}^{+} = \{\Phi_{p}^{A} | A \in \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C})\}$$
(3.35)

with

$$\Phi_n^A: \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, \ (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z_A(z), f^A(z)\lambda), \tag{3.36}$$

together with the composition \circ as the group operation. Here $f^A(z)$ is defined by (3.23). The other is the group of conformal automorphisms Con_p^+ , whose underlying set is given by

$$\operatorname{Con}_{p}^{+} = \{ \Psi_{p}^{(A,Y)} | A \in \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}), Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^{+}) \}$$
(3.37)

with

$$\Psi_p^{(A,Y)}: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, \ (z,\lambda) \mapsto (Z_A(z), Y(z) \cdot \lambda), \tag{3.38}$$

together with the composition \circ as the group operation. In the next section we will understand their mathematical structure and their interrelation.

4 Structure of the automorphism groups

In the last section we have determined two different automorphism groups of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$: a isometry group Iso_p^+ and a conformal automorphism group Con_p^+ . In this section, we

want to understand their structure, interrelation and interpretation better. Therefore we will analyse the mathematical structure of the conformal automorphism group Con_p^+ in section 4.1 and will show, that it constitutes a semidirect product of the Möbius group with the group of positive valued smooth functions on the Riemann sphere. In section 4.2 we will then show, that the conformal automorphism group contains infinitely many Lorentz subgroups, and explain, how those subgroups can be parametrized in terms of so called crossed homomorphisms. In section 4.3 we will explain, how the isometry group $\operatorname{Iso}_{p}^{+}$ is related to the conformal automorphism group Con_p^+ . Especially we will show there, that Iso_p^+ constitutes a specific, non-canonical Lorentz subgroup of Con_p^+ which is induced by the representation of the Lorentz group on $T_p\mathcal{M}$. In section 4.4 we will then try to make the structure and interpretation of Con_p^+ more lucid by explaining, how any Lorentz subgroup of Con_p^+ seems to set a notion of scale for null vectors. By this we will argue, that Con_p^+ could be a more natural automorphism group for $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ than any of its Lorentz subgroups. In the whole section we will need some prerequisites from group theory as adapted to our situation. Especially the notions of right semidirect products and crossed homomorphisms are needed. To increase readability, we have outsourced their discussion to appendix B. Please note, that we will denote throughout this section the element in $PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ associated with a Lorentz transformation $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$ by $A_{\Lambda} \in PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ and the corresponding Möbius transformation by $Z_{\Lambda} := Z^{A_{\Lambda}}$.

4.1 Structure of the conformal automorphism group

Let G be the (right) semidirect product group (for a definition of this notion see appendix B.1)

$$G := \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \ltimes_{\kappa} C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^{+}), \tag{4.1}$$

where the group antihomomorphism

$$\kappa : \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{Aut}(C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)), A \mapsto \kappa_A$$
(4.2)

is defined as:

$$\kappa_A : C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+), Y \mapsto Y \circ Z^A$$
(4.3)

This means in particular, that $G \cong \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \times C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty},\mathbb{R}^+)$ as a set and that the product of $(A_1,Y_1),(A_2,Y_2) \in G$ is defined as:

$$(A_1, Y_1)(A_2, Y_2) = (A_1 A_2, Y_1 \circ Z^{A_2} \cdot Y_2). \tag{4.4}$$

We will show in this section, that the group Con_p^+ of conformal automorphisms is isomorphic to G and moreover, that the action of Con_p^+ on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ can be described in terms of a faithful left group action $\star : G \curvearrowright \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. The latter means, that G is indeed a transformation group (cf. [17]) acting on $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$.

Therefore observe first, that obviously Con_p^+ and G are isomorphic as sets in terms of the bijection

$$(A,Y) \in G \mapsto \Psi^{(A,Y)},\tag{4.5}$$

with $\Psi^{(A,Y)} \in \operatorname{Con}_p^+$ being defined as in (3.38). Let now $(A_1,Y_1), (A_2,Y_2) \in G$. Then their product in G is given by (4.4), while we have on the other hand:

$$\Psi^{(A_1,Y_1)} \circ \Psi^{(A_2,Y_2)} = \Psi_p^{(A_1,A_2,Y_1 \circ Z^{A_2},Y_2)}. \tag{4.6}$$

Hence the map

$$G \to \operatorname{Con}_n^+, g \mapsto \Psi_n^g$$
 (4.7)

is indeed a group isomorphism. Define now a faithful left group action of G on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$

$$\star: G \curvearrowright \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+, (g, (z, \lambda)) \mapsto g \star (z, \lambda)$$

$$\tag{4.8}$$

as:

$$(A,Y) \star (z,\lambda) = (Z^A(z), Y(z)\lambda). \tag{4.9}$$

Let now $(z, \lambda) \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Then one can show easily:

$$\forall g \in G : \Psi_n^g(z, \lambda) = g \star (z, \lambda). \tag{4.10}$$

Hence we have shown, that Con_p^+ is isomorphic to G and acts on $\mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+$ in terms of the faithful group action \star . Therefore we will use the notions G and Con_p^+ synonymously, while we prefer the former in situations, where we focus on the mathematical structure of the conformal automorphism group, and use the latter, when we refer to its interpretation as a group of automorphisms of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$.

4.2 Lorentz subgroups in terms of crossed homomorphisms

Let now

$$c: SO^+(1,3) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+), \Lambda \mapsto c_{\Lambda}$$
 (4.11)

be a crossed homomorphism (see appendix B.2), i.e. c satisfies

$$c_{\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2} = c_{\Lambda_2} \cdot c_{\Lambda_1} \circ Z_{\Lambda_2}. \tag{4.12}$$

By isomorphy of the Lorentz group $SO^+(1,3)$ and the Möbius group $PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$, this induces a Lorentz subgroup $i_c(SO^+(1,3)) \subset G$ as specified by the associated embedding

$$i_c: SO^+(1,3) \hookrightarrow G, \Lambda \mapsto (A_\Lambda, c_\Lambda),$$
 (4.13)

and moreover, any Lorentz subgroup of G is of this form. This is a general property of semidirect product groups, as explained in appendix B.2. We now want to give two examples for classes of crossed homomorphisms in the present situation. For both classes, there exist elementary examples, that we have encountered already without noticing it or that occur later on. A complete classification of crossed homomorphisms is not important for the present discussion and will be a question of further research, cf. section 7.3. For the first class, let $L \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$ be a smooth function. It is then easy to see, that the associated map

$$c^{(L)}: \mathrm{SO}^+(1,3) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+), \Lambda \mapsto \frac{L \circ Z_{\Lambda}}{L}$$
 (4.14)

constitutes a crossed homomorphism and hence, the associated embedding

$$SO^{+}(1,3) \hookrightarrow G, \Lambda \mapsto \left(A_{\Lambda}, \frac{L \circ Z_{\Lambda}}{L}\right)$$
 (4.15)

defines a Lorentz subgroup of G. For the second class of crossed homomorphisms, we have to introduce so called projective coordinates for \mathbb{C}_{∞} (cf. appendix A.1 or [12]). Those are obtained by labeling points $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$ not by a single complex number, but by a pair of complex numbers $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ that are allowed to take any value other than (0,0) and specify a point $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$ in terms of the quotient

$$z = \xi/\eta. \tag{4.16}$$

They are often more convenient, since any point on \mathbb{C}_{∞} can be labeled in terms of projective coordinates by two finite complex numbers, e.g. $\infty = \xi/0$. Also, the action of Möbius transformations on projective coordinates can be conveniently expressed (by slight abuse of notation) as:

$$Z^{A}(\xi/\eta) = A \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.17}$$

Please note, that two tuples (ξ, η) and $(\alpha \xi, \alpha \eta)$ specify the same $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$ for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$. Therefore, they are called projective coordinates.

A different kind of crossed homomorphisms can then be defined, if Q is a homogeneous, positive valued polynomial of degree d in $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}$, i.e. a map

$$Q: \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}^+, (\xi, \eta) \mapsto Q(\xi, \eta) \tag{4.18}$$

which satisfies $Q(\alpha \xi, \alpha \eta) = \alpha^d Q(\xi, \eta)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$. It is then easy to show, that the associated map (where \mathbb{C}_{∞} is now coordinatized in projective coordinates)

$$c^{(Q)}: \mathrm{SO}^+(1,3) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+), \Lambda \mapsto c_{\Lambda}^{(Q)} := \frac{Q(A_{\Lambda} \cdot)}{Q(\cdot)}, \tag{4.19}$$

which should be understood as

$$c_{\Lambda}^{(Q)}(z=\xi/\eta) = \frac{Q(A_{\Lambda}(\xi,\eta)^T)}{Q(\xi,\eta)}$$
(4.20)

gives a well defined crossed homomorphism. Hence, the associated embedding

$$SO^{+}(1,3) \hookrightarrow G, \Lambda \mapsto \left(A_{\Lambda}, \frac{Q(A_{\Lambda} \cdot)}{Q(\cdot)}\right)$$
 (4.21)

defines then a Lorentz subgroup of G.

4.3 Characterization of the subgroup of isometries

In the last subsection we saw, that G comprises infinitely many Lorentz subgroups. In this section we will show, that the group of isometries Iso_p^+ is one of those Lorentz subgroups, and that it is induced by the usual representation of the Lorentz group on $T_p\mathcal{M}$. Especially, we will present the crossed homomorphism to which the inclusion $\operatorname{Iso}_p^+ \subset \operatorname{Con}_p^+$ is associated in section 4.3.1 and in section 4.3.2 we will explain, how the group Iso_p^+ is induced by the action of the Lorentz group on $T_p\mathcal{M}$ associated with a local vielbein.

4.3.1 Intrinsic characterization

Recall, that we have defined in (3.23) a map f^A associated to an $A \in PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ as the inverse of the conformal factor K^A from (3.16). By the use of projective coordinates, this map can be conveniently written as

$$f^{A}: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}, z = \xi/\eta \mapsto \frac{\left(\bar{\xi}\ \bar{\eta}\right) A^{*} A \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}}{\left(\bar{\xi}\ \bar{\eta}\right) \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}}.$$
 (4.22)

This representation makes it then easy to show, that f defines indeed a crossed homomorphism

$$f: \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty},\mathbb{R}^+), A \mapsto f^A,$$
 (4.23)

by checking either

$$f^{A_1 A_2} = f^{A_1} \circ Z^{A_2} \cdot f^{A_2} \tag{4.24}$$

explicitely, or by realizing, that this map is, under the isomorphism $SO^+(1,3) \cong PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$, an example of the second class of crossed homomorphisms as presented in section 4.2. The latter holds especially, because the map

$$Q: \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}^+, (\xi, \eta) \mapsto \left(\bar{\xi} \ \bar{\eta}\right) \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} = \xi \bar{\xi} + \eta \bar{\eta}$$
 (4.25)

is a positive valued homogeneous polynomial of order 2 on $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}$. By the isomorphism $SO^+(1,3) \cong PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$, this defines then a crossed homomorphism

$$f: SO^+(1,3) \to C^\infty(\mathbb{C}_\infty, \mathbb{R}^+), \Lambda \mapsto f_\Lambda := f^{A_\Lambda}.$$
 (4.26)

Recall now from section 3.4, that the isometry group $\operatorname{Iso}_{n}^{+}$ is explicitly given by

$$\operatorname{Iso}_{p}^{+} = \left(\{ \Phi_{p}^{A} | A \in \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \}, \circ \right) \tag{4.27}$$

with

$$\Phi_p^A: \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, (z, \lambda) \mapsto (Z_A(z), f^A(z)\lambda). \tag{4.28}$$

Hence,

$$\Phi_p^A = \Psi_p^{(A, f^A)} \tag{4.29}$$

holds, where $\Psi_p^{(A,f^A)} \in \operatorname{Con}_p^+$ denotes the conformal automorphism associated with $(A,f^A) \in G$, as given by (3.38). Hence,

$$\operatorname{Iso}_{p}^{+} \cong i_{f}(\operatorname{SO}^{+}(1,3)) \subset G \tag{4.30}$$

is satisfied, where i_f is the embedding (4.13) associated with the crossed homomorphism f, i.e.:

$$i_f: SO^+(1,3) \hookrightarrow G, \Lambda \mapsto (A_\Lambda, f_\Lambda).$$
 (4.31)

Consequently, Iso_p^+ is isomorphic to the Lorentz subgroup of G that is specified by the crossed homomorphism (4.26).

4.3.2 Extrinsic characterization

We now want to show, how the group Iso_p^+ arises equally in terms of the representation of the Lorentz group $\mathrm{SO}^+(1,3)$ on $T_p\mathscr{M}$ associated with a local vielbein. Let therefore (U,ψ) be a local trivialization with $p \in U$ and (E_μ) be an associated vielbein. We then obtain an associated action of $\mathrm{SO}^+(1,3)$ on $T_p\mathscr{M}$ defined as

$$\Lambda v := (\Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu} v^{\nu}) E_{\mu} \tag{4.32}$$

for any vector $v = v^{\mu} E_{\mu} \in T_p \mathcal{M}$. Let now

$$\psi_p^+: L_p^+ \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, v \mapsto \left(z_p^{\psi}(v), \lambda_p^{\psi}(v)\right)$$
 (4.33)

be the coordinate system in \mathcal{B}_p that is induced by (U, ψ) . We then have by the results of appendix A.3 and especially by (A.37)–(A.38), that for any null vector $v \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$

$$\psi_p^+(\Lambda v) = (A_\Lambda, f_\Lambda) \star \psi_p^+(v) \tag{4.34}$$

holds, with $(A_{\Lambda}, f_{\Lambda}) \in G$, f_{Λ} being defined by (4.26) and \star being the group action (4.8). By the results of section 4.2, this can then equally be written as

$$\psi_p^+(\Lambda v) = \Phi^{A_\Lambda} \circ \psi_p^+(v). \tag{4.35}$$

Moreover we have for $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \in SO^+(1,3)$:

$$\psi_n^+(\Lambda_1\Lambda_2 v) = ((\Lambda_1, f_{\Lambda_1}) \cdot (\Lambda_2, f_{\Lambda_2})) \star \psi_n^+(v). \tag{4.36}$$

And by this we see, that the action of $SO^+(1,3)$ on $T_p\mathcal{M}$ induces the group Iso_p^+ . This can be equally understood by observing, that for all $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$ and all $v, w \in T_p\mathcal{M}$

$$g(\Lambda v, \Lambda w) = g(v, w) \tag{4.37}$$

must hold. Hence, the restriction of any Lorentz transformation $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$ to $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ constitutes an isometriy for the induced metric q on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ from (S4).

4.4 On length gauges and Lorentz subgroups

In this subsection we want to gain a better intuition for the physical interpretation of the group G and its Lorentz subgroups. To do so, we will now adopt a "passive" point of view and try to understand, which coordinate systems for $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ are induced, if one composes conformal automorphisms $\Psi \in \operatorname{Con}_p^+$ with a coordinate system $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$. But first, we take one step back and ask in full generality, if and how one could define meaningful notions of length for null vectors in $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$.

On the one hand, one could be tempted to think, that no such notion exists, since the inner product g_p is degenerate on $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ and hence

$$\sqrt{g_p(v,v)} = 0 \tag{4.38}$$

holds. On the other hand, $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ is a linear cone and thus it is still possible to define meaningful notions of length as homogeneous, positive definite maps

$$\lambda_p: L_p^+ \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}^+, \tag{4.39}$$

which mimick hence the properites of vector space norms in the present situation. We will call in the sequel such a map (4.39) a length gauge for $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$.

Now consider first a map $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ with associated vielbein (E_μ) . This map can be written as (cf. (2.7))

$$\psi_p^+: L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, v \mapsto \left(z_p^\psi(v), \lambda_p^\psi(v)\right)$$
 (4.40)

with

$$\lambda_p^{\psi}(v^{\mu}E_{\mu}) = v^0 = |\vec{v}| = \sqrt{(v^1)^2 + (v^2)^2 + (v^3)^2}.$$
(4.41)

Here, λ_p^{ψ} as given by (4.41) is obviously a length gauge for $L_p\mathcal{M}$ and hence, any map $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ determines a length gauge for $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ as the 3-length (or equivalently as the 0-component) of a null vector in the associated vielbein frame. Hence, the class of coordinates \mathcal{B}_p (or equivalently the bundle atlas \mathcal{B}) singles out a class of length gauges for $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, namely exactly those, that are associated to vielbein frames, as specified by (4.41).

At this stage, at least the author feels a bit uncomfortable: the 3-length (or equivalently the zero component v^0) associated to a vielbein frame is not a Lorentz invariant quantity. Why should it be hence a preferred notion of length for null vectors? For example, Penrose writes in [12]:

The extent of a null vector cannot be characterized in an invariant way by a number, nor can null vectors of different directions be compared with respect to extent. The ratio of the extents of null vectors of the same direction is meaningful, being just the ratio of the vectors.

Here, Penrose calls it "the extent of a null vector", what we call the 3-length as given by the length gauge (4.41). Hence, the length gauges (4.41) as singled out by the class of coordinates \mathcal{B}_p don't seem to be meaningful quantities. Now, there are two strategies, how one could deal with this insight. Either one could discard length gauges completely, what leads to the usual "identification" of a future pointing light cone with the celestial sphere, together with the corresponding well known theory (cf. [12]). But instead of doing so, one could adopt a different strategy: instead of discarding length gauges completely, one could consider contrarily the set of all possible length gauges as an invariant geometric structure associated with $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ and analyse its properties. And we will see now, that this is exactly what we did in this paper. Especially we will understand, that the group G describes all possible length gauges together with their transformation properties under Lorentz transformations.

Therefore consider again a coordinate system $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ as given by (4.40). Now let $(\mathbf{1},Y) \in G$ and consider the map $\psi_p^Y := \Psi^{(\mathbf{1},Y)} \circ \psi_p^+ = (\mathbf{1},Y) \star \psi_p^+$. This map will be explicitly written as

$$\psi_p^Y : L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, v \mapsto \left(z_p^Y(v), \lambda_p^Y(v) \right)$$
 (4.42)

and by the very definition of the group action \star (or equivalently by the action of conformal automorphisms as presented in section 3.2) we have then:

$$z_p^Y(v) = z_p^{\psi}(v),$$
 (4.43)

$$\lambda_p^Y(v) = Y(z_p^{\psi}(v))\lambda^{\psi}(v). \tag{4.44}$$

And hence, since $Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$, any length gauge is induced, if we act with group elements $g \in G$ on coordinate systems in \mathcal{B}_p . I.e. any length gauge (4.39) can be written as (4.44) for a suitable $Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$. Consequently, group elements $g \in G$ of the form g = (1, Y) could be understood as pure length gauge transformations. In addition one can now enlarge the class of coordinates \mathcal{B}_p to a larger class \mathcal{R}_p which incorporates all those possible length gauges, i.e.:

$$\mathcal{R}_p = \{ (\mathbf{1}, Y) \star \psi_p^+ | Y \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+) \text{ and } \psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p \}.$$
 (4.45)

Now, by the results of section 4.3.1, we have, that for any two $\psi_{1,p}^+, \psi_{2,p}^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ there exists exactly one $g \in \mathrm{Iso}_p^+ \subset \mathrm{Con}_p^+$, s.th. $\psi_{1,p}^+ = g \star \psi_{2,p}^+$ holds. Hence, we have

$$\mathcal{R}_p = G \star \psi_p^+ \tag{4.46}$$

for any $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$. And moreover, it follows then, that G acts simply transitive on \mathcal{R}_p and hence parametrizes all possible coordinate systems for $L_p^+ \mathscr{M}$ that incorporate all admissible length gauges thereon.

But how do the various Lorentz subgroups enter the game now? This is maybe the most subtle and interesting aspect of the present discussion. Therefore consider first again maps $\psi_p^+ \in \mathcal{B}_p$ as given by (4.40). As explained above, the associated length gauges λ_p^{ψ} given by (4.41) are 3-lengths induced by vielbein frames. And as such, there is an associated transformation law under Lorentz transformations, explicitly described by

$$\psi_p^+(\Lambda v) = (A_\Lambda, f_\Lambda) \star \psi_p^+(v) \tag{4.47}$$

as presented in section 4.3.2. But if one enlarges the class of coordinates, such that all length gauges are allowed, i.e. if one makes a transition from \mathcal{B}_p to \mathcal{R}_p as defined in (4.45), then there exists no single, preferred Lorentz transformation law anymore. Instead, there are infinitely many possible Lorentz transformation laws as described by the various Lorentz subgroups of G. Moreover, if we consider again the group antihomomorphism κ from (4.2), we see, that it is not possible to absorb any crossed homomorphism other than the trivial one in the group composition law. I.e. we can't define

$$\kappa_A: C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+), Y \mapsto c_A \cdot Y \circ Z^A$$
(4.48)

for $c_A \neq 1$, since otherwise $\kappa_A(1) = c_A \neq 1$ and hence, G would not constitute a group. This means, that from a group theoretic perspective, no non-trivial Lorentz subgroup of G could be preferred in terms of an alternative multiplication law for G. Especially we see, that the crossed homomorphism $A \mapsto f_A$ seems completely arbitrary from this perspective. Conversely, any Lorentz subgroup of G singles out a subclass of length gauges

and a corresponding Lorentz transformation law, which is again unsatisfactory in the light of the discussion above surrounding the quote of Penrose. Hence it seems, that no Lorentz subgroup of G and especially not its subgroup of isometries is intrinsically preferred. By this argumentation, G could be considered as a more natural automorphism group for $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ than any of its Lorentz subgroups.

5 Comparison with the original BMS analysis

In this subsection, we want to compare the original BMS analyis at null infinity with our microscopic analogue. Especially, we will compare our methodology with the original BMS methodology in section 5.1 and in section 5.2 we will compare the structure of G with the structure of the original BMS group. The similarities between those situations will then justify, why we call G a microscopic analogue of the BMS group, as will be summarized in section 5.3.

5.1 Methodology

We want to review concisely the original BMS analysis of asymptotically flat spacetimes in a modern language. Our main sources for this are [8, 9, 18]. To understand the original BMS analysis of asymptotic symmetries, it is instructive (cf. [8, 9]), to perform a conformal compactification (cf. [10]) of the asymptotically flat spacetime under consideration. Then null infinity \mathcal{I} becomes a 3-dimensional submanifold of Einstein's static universe, which can be regarded as a part of the topological boundary of the considered "physical" spacetime and as such, it inherits several universal geometric structures from the physical spacetime. Those structures (cf. [8]) consist out of a degenerate metric q_{ab} with signature (0, +, +) and a complete vector field n on \mathcal{I} , which is defined in terms of the conformal factor Ω that was used for the conformal compactification:

$$n^{\mu} = \nabla^{\mu}\Omega \tag{5.1}$$

Here, ∇ denotes the Levi-Civita connection on the compactified spacetime. In addition, there is a remaining freedom for admissible conformal transformations of the physical spacetime given by smooth redefinitions of the conformal factor Ω of the form

$$\Omega' = \omega \Omega. \tag{5.2}$$

Here, ω is a smooth function on the compactified spacetime (including its boundary) that is nowhere vanishing on \mathcal{I} . One can restrict this "gauge freedom" further by allowing solely conformal factors, that satisfy $\nabla_{\mu}n^{\mu} = 0$. One can then show (cf. [8, 9]) that smooth factors ω preserve this condition if and only if their Lie derivative along n vanishes, i.e. $\mathcal{L}_n\omega = 0$, under restriction to \mathcal{I} . Under such "gauge transformations", the universal structure $(q_{\mu\nu}, n^{\mu})$ transforms as follows:

$$q'_{\mu\nu} = \omega^2 q_{\mu\nu}$$
 $n'^{\mu} = \omega^{-1} n^{\mu}$ (5.3)

One then calls two tuples $(q_{\mu\nu}, n^{\mu})$ and $(q'_{\mu\nu}, n'^{\mu})$ equivalent, if they are related to each other by a conformal transformation of the type (5.3). The BMS group can then be understood as the group of all transformations on I, which preserve this universal structure, i.e. map tuples $(q_{\mu\nu}, n^{\mu})$ to equivalent tuples. The relation to our analysis becomes apparent, if one realizes, that all objects appearing in the original BMS analysis have direct microscopic analogues in our analysis. Consider first asymptotic flatness. In the case of the original BMS framework, the property of asymptotic flatness was exactly described in terms of decay conditions for the metric along null rays towards infinity (cf. [19]). As explained in sections 1 and 2.2, our analogue to asymptotic flatness is given by Einstein's equivalence principle. As sketched in footnote 3, Einstein's equivalence principle demands flatness in an infinitesimal limit, which can be quantified in terms of Riemann normal coordinates: around any point $p \in \mathcal{M}$ there exists coordinate patch (x^{μ}) around p (i.e. $x^{\mu}(p) = 0$) in which the metric assumes the form (cf. [20, 21])

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) = \eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\beta}(0)x^{\alpha}x^{\beta} + \mathcal{O}(|x|^3),$$
 (5.4)

where $R_{\mu\alpha\nu\beta}$ is a coordinate expression for the Riemann tensor. In this formulation, Einstein's equivalence principle is quantified in terms of a microscopic asymptotic decay condition and hence resembles the role of asymptotic flatness in the BMS framework. Consider now null infinity: it is a natural macroscopic null surface associated with any asymptotically flat spacetime and can be represented as the union of a pointed past and a pointed future light cone in Einstein's static universe. Moreover, it is diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}$. Analogously, the past and future tangent light cones $L_p^+ \mathscr{M}$ are natural microscopic null surfaces associated with any spacetime satisfying Einstein's equivalence principle and are diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. In the BMS analysis, the geometry of the bulk spacetime induces a degenerate metric q and a complete null vector field n^{μ} on null infinity. In our situation, the geometry of $T_p\mathcal{M}$ together with the psuedo-Riemannian metric g induces also a degenerate metric as given by (S4) on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. The analogue to the complete null vector field n^{μ} is then given by the linear cone structure of $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. The microscopic analogue to the gauge condition $\mathcal{L}_n\omega$ in the original BMS-analysis is the requirement, that conformal transformations should preserve the compatibility of the induced metric with the linear cone structure, as depicted at the end of section 3.3. The group Con_p^+ is in our situation then the group which preserves the linear cone structure and the conformal structure on $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ up to conformal equivalence, analogously as the BMS group preserves the universal structure in the sense depicted above.

5.2 Group structure

In this section we will compare the structure of G with the structure of the original BMS group. Thereby we will see, that some subtile differences appear, although the structure of G and the structure of the original BMS group are still very similar. Our main source regarding the structure of the original BMS group will be the modern review [22]. Classic sources on this topic are [2, 23, 24]. Null infinity can be coordinatized in Bondi coordinates by $(z, u) \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}$ (cf. [13]) and in [22] a general BMS transformation thereon is given by (cf. Formulas 5.15a and 5.15b of [22])

$$z \to z' = \frac{az+b}{cz+d} \tag{5.5}$$

$$u \to u' = K(z, \bar{z}) \left[u + \alpha(z, \bar{z}) \right] \tag{5.6}$$

where K is the conformal factor given by

$$K(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{1+z\bar{z}}{(az+b)(\bar{a}\bar{z}+\bar{b})+(cz+d)(\bar{c}\bar{z}+\bar{d})},$$
(5.7)

and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$ is a supertranslation. Observe now, that the formulas (5.5)–(5.6) are very similar to the coordinate expression of a transformation of $L_p^+ \mathscr{M}$ that corresponds to an iterative application of a generic element $\Phi_p^A \in \mathrm{Iso}_p^+$ and an element $\Psi_p^{(\mathbf{1},Y)} \in \mathrm{Con}_p^+$, since

$$\Psi_p^{(1,Y)} \circ \Phi_p^A(z,\lambda) = \left(Z^A(z), Y(z) f^A(z) \lambda \right), \tag{5.8}$$

holds, what means, that (z,λ) transforms under $\Psi_p^{(1,Y)} \circ \Phi_p^A \in \mathrm{Con}_p^+$ as

$$z \to z' = \frac{az+b}{cz+d} \tag{5.9}$$

$$\lambda \to \lambda' = K(z, \bar{z})^{-1} Y(z) \lambda \tag{5.10}$$

with the conformal factor K given by (5.7). The important differences between (5.9)–(5.10) and (5.5)–(5.6) are, that our analogues of supertranslations do not act by addition, but by multiplication, and that our analogue of the conformal factor, given by the crossed homomorphism f_A , is exactly the inverse of K. The former can be easily understood, since automorphisms of the form $\Psi^{(1,Y)}$ are multiplicative "superrescalings" of null vectors. The occurrence of the inverse conformal factor in (5.10) can be understood in the present situation, if one derives the Lorentz-Möbius correspondence not as we will do it in appendix A.3, but in terms of Bondi coordinates. Then one obtains, that the advanced coordinate u = t + r rescales under Lorentz transformations exactly under the inverse prefactor as the radial coordinate r. This is for example presented in sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 of [13].

In all articles, which we have mentioned above, the structure of the original BMS group is described as a semidirect product of the Lorentz group $SO^+(1,3)$ with the group of supertranslations $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty},\mathbb{R})$. In this sense our group G resembles the structure of the original BMS group. Especially in [22], also the original BMS group is constructed as a right semidirect product, which resembles our construction of G as performed in section 4.1. But if one digs deeper in the mentioned articles, an important difference will appear: in [22, 25], the group action which is utilized for the definition of the semidirect product includes the conformal factor K. In particular, for a supertranslation $\alpha \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R})$ and a Lorentz group element $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$, the group action is defined as (cf. eq. 6.14a-b of [22]):

$$\sigma_{\Lambda}(\alpha) = K^{-1} \cdot \alpha \circ Z_{\Lambda}. \tag{5.11}$$

Adapted to our situation, the corresponding modification of the group action κ specified by (4.2)–(4.3) would be

$$\kappa : \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{Aut}(C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)), A \mapsto \kappa_A$$
(5.12)

with:

$$\kappa_A: Y \mapsto f_A \cdot Y \circ Z^A \tag{5.13}$$

But this would not be appropriate in our situation. If we had adopted the group action (5.12)–(5.13), we would have had especially

$$\kappa_A(1) = f_A \neq 1. \tag{5.14}$$

Hence κ_A would not constitute an automorphism of $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}^+)$, since it would not preserve the unit element. Hence G would in this case not constitute a proper group (cf. also the discussion at the end of section 4.4). Therefore we think, that f_A must be excluded from the definition of the semidirect product in the present scenario. In the case of the original BMS group, this ambiguity does not appear, since it is additive. Hence its unit element is given by 0 and fortunately the action (5.11) satisfies $\sigma_{\Lambda}(0) = 0$.

5.3 Conclusion

We think, that the present discussion shows, that the original BMS group and the group G are very similar: both appear as conformal automorphism groups of natural null surfaces endowed with similar universal geometric structures, as depicted in section 5.1, and both can be written as right semidirect products of the Lorentz group (or equivalently the Möbius group) with a group of smooth functions on the Möbius sphere, as depicted in section 5.2.

6 The automorphism groups as gauge groups for the light cone bundle

In this section we want to sketch concisely, how the microscopic BMS-like group G, as well as its subgroup of isometries, constitute gauge groups for the bundle of future pointing null vectors. Therefore observe first, that the results from section 2.2 generalize in a straightforward way to the full light cone bundle. I.e., the bundle $L^+\mathcal{M}$ is equipped with the following universal structures:

- (F1) $F = \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ is the typical fiber of the fiber bundle $L^+ \mathcal{M}$, i.e. $L_p^+ \mathcal{M} \cong F$.
- (F2) Each fiber $L_n^+ \mathcal{M}$ is a linear cone.
- (F3) There is a family $(U_i, z_i)_{i \in I}$ of surjective maps

$$z_i: L^+U_i \to U_i \times \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$$
 (6.1)

whose transition functions are well defined and valued in the Möbius group. Here $(U_i)_{i\in I}$ is an open cover for \mathscr{M} .

(F4) There exists a degenerate metric q_p on any fiber $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. Moreover, the map

$$p \in \mathscr{M} \mapsto q_p \tag{6.2}$$

is smooth.

This allows then, as common in fiber bundle theory (cf. [17, 26, 27]), the definition of adapted bundle atlases that preserve those structures in a certain sense. The matching conditions of overlapping charts are then described in terms of transition functions that are valued in a structure group and analogously to the situation in section 3, the question

thereby will be, how (F4) should be interpreted: as a fixed degenerate Riemannian metric on $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ or as a representative of a conformal structure thereon? The former will yield a $SO^+(1,3)$ -structure for the lightcone bundle, while the latter gives rise to a G-structure.

Consider first the case, where q_p is interpreted as a fixed degenerate Riemannian metric on any generic fiber $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. Then the bundle atlas \mathcal{B} as constructed in section 2.1 is made up of smooth local trivializations (U, φ) given by maps

$$\varphi: L^+ U \to U \times F \tag{6.3}$$

which preserve the cone structure and have the property, that the metric q_p is in each chart represented by

$$ds^2 = 2\lambda^2 \frac{dzd\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^2} \tag{6.4}$$

and whose transition functions lie, by direct generalization of the results of sections 3.2 and 4.3.2, in $\operatorname{Iso}_p^+ \cong \operatorname{SO}^+(1,3)$. More explicitely, the latter means, that for two local trivializations $(U_1, \varphi_1), (U_2, \varphi_2) \in \mathcal{B}$ with $U_1 \cap U_2 \neq \emptyset$ the transition function

$$\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1^{-1} : (U_2 \cap U_1) \times F \to (U_2 \cap U_1) \times F \tag{6.5}$$

can be written as

$$\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1^{-1}(p,(z,\lambda)) = (p, i_f(\Lambda_p) \star (z,\lambda)), \tag{6.6}$$

where

$$\Lambda: U_1 \cap U_2 \to \mathrm{SO}^+(1,3), p \mapsto \Lambda_p \tag{6.7}$$

is a local Lorentz transformation, i_f is the embedding

$$i_f: SO^+(1,3) \hookrightarrow G$$
 (6.8)

defined in (4.31) and \star is the group action (4.8). In this sense, \mathcal{B} constitutes a SO⁺(1,3)-structure for $L^+\mathcal{M}$, where the Lorentz group is non-trivially represented in terms of the crossed homomorphism f.

We now interpret q_p as a representative of a conformal equivalence class of metrics on a generic fiber $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$. Then the structures (F1)–(F4) induce an adapted bundle atlas, whose smooth trivializations (U, φ) given by

$$\varphi: L^+U \to U \times F \tag{6.9}$$

have the property, that the metric q_p is in each chart (U,φ) represented by

$$ds^{2} = 2\lambda^{2}\Omega_{p}^{\varphi}(z)^{2} \frac{dzd\bar{z}}{(1+z\bar{z})^{2}}$$

$$(6.10)$$

for an associated smooth conformal factor

$$\Omega^{\varphi}: U \times \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}^+, (p, z) \mapsto \Omega_n^{\varphi}(z),$$
 (6.11)

and whose transition functions lie hence in G. The latter means, that for two such local trivializations $(U_1, \varphi_1), (U_2, \varphi_2)$ with $U_1 \cap U_2 \neq \emptyset$ the transition function

$$\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1^{-1} : (U_2 \cap U_1) \times F \to (U_2 \cap U_1) \times F \tag{6.12}$$

can be written as

$$\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1^{-1}(p, (z, \lambda)) = (p, g_p \star (z, \lambda)) \tag{6.13}$$

for

$$g: U_1 \cap U_2 \to G, p \mapsto g_p \tag{6.14}$$

being a local smooth⁵ G-gauge transformation. In this sense, those local trivializations form a G-structure for $L^+\mathcal{M}$, which we call \mathcal{R} . Please note, that such an G-structure \mathcal{R} indeed exists and can be constructed explicitly in terms of the atlas \mathcal{B} , by applying smooth G-valued maps locally on coordinate systems in \mathcal{B} . I.e. we define

$$\mathcal{R} = \left\{ (U, g \star \psi^+) \middle| (U, \psi^+) \in \mathcal{B} \text{ and } g \in C^{\infty}(U, G) \right\}$$
(6.15)

where $g \star \psi^+$ is defined as:

$$g \star \psi^+ : L^+ U \to U \times F, v \in L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \mapsto \left(p, g_p \star \psi_p^+(v) \right)$$
 (6.16)

By this, it follows directly, that the restrictions of maps in \mathcal{R} to $T_p\mathcal{M}$ are given by \mathcal{R}_p as constructed in section 4.4.

In this sense, we have identified two extremal natural gauge groups for the bundle $L^+\mathcal{M}$: the Lorentz group $\mathrm{SO}^+(1,3)$ forms a kind of minimal gauge group, while the microscopic BMS group G constitutes some sort of maximal gauge group. By the argumentation of section 4.4, the former can be understood as a gauge group, which carries already information on the embedding $L^+\mathcal{M} \hookrightarrow T\mathcal{M}$, while the group G seems to be preferred by the intrinsic geometry of $L^+\mathcal{M}$. Nevertheless, there should be some hard criterion, by which one can answer the question, which of those gauge groups is the "correct one". We will comment on this again in section 7.2. Please note in addition, that, by the results of this section, we have now all necessary ingredients for a $\mathrm{SO}^+(1,3)$ - and a G-gauge theory on $L^+\mathcal{M}$. I.e. one could define associated principal fiber bundles and analyse connections thereon.

Finally we would like to note, that there are also groups H which satisfy

$$SO^{+}(1,3) \subsetneq H \subsetneq G \tag{6.17}$$

and could be also understood as possible gauge groups for $L^+\mathcal{M}$. For example, one could restrict the class of the allowed conformal factors $\Omega_p^{\varphi}(z)$ from equation (6.10). Also, any of the Lorentz subgroups of G should induce a corresponding bundle atlas. A more rigorous mathematical investigation of those structures as well as their geometric interpretations would be desirable, and we will comment on this question again in section 7.3.

 $^{^5}$ Of course, one has to specify, which notion of smoothness is meant exactly, since G is infinite dimensional. But since we just want to sketch the ideas in the present discussion, we won't bother with this question here.

7 Discussion

In this section we want to conclude this article. Especially we will summarize our findings in section 7.1. In section 7.2 we will discuss possible implications of the present investigation, that are motivated by the various applications of the original BMS group and are associated with general relativity and the UV-structure of gauge theories. In section 7.3 we will comment on other open questions as well as on the relation to the existing literature.

7.1 Summary

In this article we have performed a thorough analysis of the universal structures that are induced on the infinitesimal tangent light cones of a generic spacetime obeying Einstein's equivalence principle. Thereby, we obtained as a main result, that those structures single out two natural microscopic symmetry groups, that arise as automorphism groups: a non-trivially represented Lorentz group as their isometry group and a group G as their conformal automorphism group. We investigated the mathematical structure of the group G and showed, that it can be described in terms of a right semidirect product of the Lorentz group (or equivalently the Möbius group) with a group of smooth, positive valued functions on the Riemann sphere. We further showed, that G contains infinitely many Lorentz subgroups which are parametrized in terms of crossed homomorphisms. We have demonstrated, how the isometry group arises as a non-canonical subgroup of G and argued, that no Lorentz subgroup seems to be intrinsically preferred from a geometric and a group theoretic perspective. Especially, we realized thereby, that G encodes all possible length gauge choices for null vectors and that any Lorentz subgroup corresponds to a subclass of such length gauge choices together with an associated Lorentz transformation law. We also compared our methodology and results with the classic BMS analysis, and justified by this, that G can be called a microscopic analogue of the BMS group. Finally, we have sketched, how G and the isometry subgroup could constitute gauge groups for the bundle of null directions. By this we have identified a geometric structure which exists on the bulk of any spacetime obeying Einstein's equivalence principle and which is associated with a BMS-like group. This implies especially, that BMS-like groups do not only describe macroscopic asymptotic symmetries in general relativity, but also constitute a fundamental and, to the best of our knowledge, unknown microscopic symmetry of Lorentzian geometry: this symmetry encodes in an invariant way, how null vector rescalings interfere with Lorentz transformations. In addition we would like to mention three results of this article, that lie not in the mainline of argumentation, but are still worthwhile to be mentioned explicitly:

• We gave a convenient representation for the rescalings of null vectors under Lorentz transformations, cf. (2.16) or section 4.3.2. This transformation law was derived by a reinterpretation of the implicit definition of the inverse stereographic projection (A.10), which is convenient for the calculation of null vector rescalings, cf. appendix A.3. Although it was of course realized all over literature, that null vectors transform under Lorentz transformation not only by a change of their direction, but also by a rescaling of their length (cf. e.g. [2, 12, 24]), the representation (2.16) as well as its derivation in appendix A.3 are to the best of our knowledge new.

- We have shown in section 2.2, that the square root of the negative standard Minkowski inner product constitutes a kind of distance function on the light cone of Minkowski vector space. Moreover we have shown, that this distance function is related to the chordal distance on the Riemann sphere. Although this result seems very elementary, it is, to the best of our knowledge, not present in the existent literature. Nevertheless, a related reasoning was performed in [28].
- The occurrence of infinitely many Lorentz subgroups of the conformal automorphism group can be equally understood by the statement, that there seems to be no distinguished Lorentz transformation law for length gauges anymore, if one considers all possible length gauges for null vectors, cf. the end of section 4.4. I.e. if one enlarges the class of coordinate systems as described at the end of section 4.4, then the subgroup of isometries together with its associated Lorentz transformation law seem to loose their preferred role, and infinitely many Lorentz transformation laws emerge.

Finally, we want to remark, that it is in the view of the author interesting, that the group G carries no obvious canonical structure that singles out a non-trivial Lorentz subgroup. Usually, structure groups in fiber bundle theory are some kind of "group theoretic mirror" of the geometry under consideration, since they encode geometric properties of the fiber bundle (and its base manifold) in terms of group theoretic properties (cf. [26, 27]). In the present scenario, the metric (6.4) is a distinguished geometric object on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$, since it has constant positive curvature. But as discussed at the end of section 4.4, the associated Lorentz subgroup of isometries seems not to be preferred from a group theoretic perspective. This could be interpreted as a hint, that the structure of G favours a conformal interpretation of the induced metrics on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$.

7.2 On possible implications

As said in the introduction, the original BMS group found various applications in different branches of modern gravitational and high energy physics. Motivated by this success and by the similarity of the microscopic BMS-like group G presented in this article as compared to the original BMS group, we ask the question, if the group G together with its associated geometric structures could have similar applications. Therefore we will sketch three directions of research, that are motivated by the findings of the present article and by applications of the original BMS group. The scenarios depicted in this subsection will be investigated in a subsequent series of publications.

A bulk description for gravitational waves? The original BMS analysis of universal structures and associated symmetries at null infinity was a conerstone of the proof, that gravitational waves indeed exist in general relativity (cf. [19]). The reason for this is, that the description of gravitational radiative degrees of freedom simplifies drastically, if one formulates them in terms of induced higher order quantities on null infinity (cf. [8, 9, 29]). Given the similarity of the group G with the original BMS group and the similarity of the universal structures on $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ with the universal structures on null infinity, one could ask, if an analysis of G-connections on the light cone bundle $L^+\mathcal{M}$ could also lead to a simplified

description of radiative degrees of freedom on the bulk. I.e., in a more colloquial language, if infinitesimal light cones could serve as convenient probes for gravitational waves on the bulk. This could be indeed meaningful, since the equivalence classes of connections which appear at null infinity (cf. [8, 9, 29]) could correspond in our scenario to a single gauge equivalence class of G-connections on $L^+\mathcal{M}$ as induced by several inequivalent Levi-Civita connections on $T\mathcal{M}$. Consequently, also quantities like the Bondi news tensor or the leading order Weyl tensor (for both cf. [8]) could have analoga for G-connections. Finally, the tangent bundle of null infinity could be understood as an arena for boundary values of the bulk light cone bundle. By this, the description of radiative degrees of freedom on null infinity should correspond directly to boundary values for G-connections, which could define soliton-like vacuums solutions.

An "UV-triangle"? Recently, a deep interconnection between the original BMS group, soft theorems in quantum gauge theory and memory effects in gravitational physics was discovered, going under the name of the IR-triangle (cf. [7]). Given the structural similarity of the group G and the BMS group, one could ask the question, if there could be a similar interrelation between G and the UV-structure of gauge theories. This seems appealing: due to the infinite dimensionality of G, there could exist infinitely many charges associated with G. Similarly, as the charges of the original BMS group imply soft theorems in terms of their Ward identities, one could ask, if identities associated with G could constrain scattering amplitudes non-perturbatively in the deep UV. Moreover, the existence of distinct Lorentz subgroups of G could be related to a microscopic gravitational memory effect: a bypassing gravitational wave could link two Lorentz subgroups of G to each other, resembling the situation at null infinity, where gravitational radiation links distinct Minkowski vacua to each other, which are otherwise related by supertranslations (cf. [8, 9, 14]).

An extension of the fundamental gauge group of gravity? Finally we would like to propose two speculative scenarios, in which G (or maybe also a subgroup of G that is strictly larger than the subgroup of isometries) could constitute a fundamental gauge group for a full theory of gravity. But before doing so, please note first, that G could indeed already arise as a gauge group for a specific, very realistic sector of general relativity: in the situation, where all test particles are assumed to be massless, the tangent bundle can be safely replaced by the light cone bundle and especially all gravitational quantities should influence such test particles only in terms of their induced quantities on $L^+\mathcal{M}$. One could then analyse, if Einstein's equation (or equivalently the Einstein-Hilbert action) can be reexpressed entirely in terms of induced quantities on $L^+\mathcal{M}$. By doing so, one should especially understand, which gauge freedom is dictated by the action principle (or equivalently by its canonical formulation) for the induced connections on $L^+\mathcal{M}$: is the gauge freedom described by G or is it described by the subgroup of isometries? The discussion of section 4.4 makes it plausible, that the gauge group is indeed enlarged to G in this scenario, but of course, this has to be investigated. But however, a careful analysis of this situation should shed in any case some light on the question regarding the "correct" gauge group for the light cone bundle, as raised in section 6. Please note also, that this scenario is also closely connected to a hypothetical bulk description of gravitational waves as sketched

above: both scenarios aim towards a simplification of general relativity by considering solely its effects on massless test particles.

After sketching this realistic scenario regarding a subsector of general relativity, we now want to propose the first of two speculative scenarios, in which G could constitute a gauge group for a full theory of gravity. Therefore recall, that we have shown in section 4.2, that G contains infinitely many Lorentz subgroups. By the argumentation of section 4.4 one can realize in addition, that two distinct Lorentz subgroups are related by some kind of length gauge transformation. Moreover, all Lorentz subgroups are (trivially) isomorphic to each other and especially isomorphic to the subgroup of isometries. This finding resembles to some extent the situation in spontaneously broken gauge theories and hence one could ask, if a Higgs-like mechanism could break the gauge symmetry of a G-gauge theory to an arbitrary Lorentz subgroup. By this, general relativity could constitute a low-energy approximation of such a theory, where the Higgs-like field is near to its ground state. Interestingly, everything should move at the speed of light in situations, where the Higgs-like field is not in its ground state. Please note in addition, that the subgroup of isometries is, although not intrinsically preferred, induced by the standard representation of the Lorentz group on \mathbb{R}^4 . By this, the subgroup of isometries seems natural from the perspective of any spontaneously choosen Lorentz subgroup of G, although it seems unnatural if one considers G as a fundamental gauge group.

For the second, more speculative scenario realize, that the group G is really in some sense a conformal group. Hence, one could ask, how a conformal field theory for G would look like and if some sort of holographic principle could hold for G. If so, this holographic principle would be in some kind special, since it would not constitute a classic bulk-to-boundary correspondence, but merely a kind of "gauged holography", where quantities associated with "microscopic bulks" (as represented by the tangent spaces $T_p\mathscr{M}$) would be encoded on "microscopic boundaries" (as represented by tangent light cones $L_p^+\mathscr{M}$). This idea seems appealing, since it would lie in between a pure boundary description and a pure bulk description. This is due to the fact, that in such a situation the "bulk theory" would be encoded microscopically in a 2-dimensional way, since the typical fibers of the light cone bundle are 2-dimensional geometric entities. Nevertheless, the base manifold and hence also the macroscopic effective geometry would still be 4-dimensional. Please note in addition, that G comprises infinitely many Lorentz subgroups, and hence it includes also infinitely many Lorentz transformation laws. In the light of this scenario, those subgroups could encode transformation properties of different physical microscopic bulk entities.

Finally note, that those scenarios seem to be plausible from different perspectives. There are various hints, that gravity behaves at fundamental scales in a 2-dimensional way (cf. [30]). In addition, the BKL-conjecture (cf. [31]) suggests, that gravity behaves at fundamental scales in an ultralocal way, which is also a property of ultrarelativistic field theories (cf. [32, 33]). Note, that those properties would be directly imprinted into any theory associated with $L^+\mathcal{M}$ and G: the light cone bundle is infinitesimally a 2-dimensional space and hence the dimensional reduction at microscopic scales would be manifest in a G-gauge theory on the light cone bundle. Moreover, tangent light cones are obviously ultrarelativistic objects and the group G should thus, analogously to the situation in [34–36],

be related to some ultrarelativistic symmetry group. Hence, also the ultralocal behaviour at microscopic scales should be manifest. This could be summarized in a picturesque way by saying, that a G-gauge theory on the light cone bundle should describe a situation, where fundamentally everything moves at the speed of light and where timelike causality relations are emergent by some yet to be invented mechanism. As argued above, this mechanism could be maybe a spontaneous symmetry breaking or a "gauged holographic principle".

7.3 Other open questions and relation to the literature

Finally we would like to comment on some other open questions and possible directions of research.

G from the perspective of mathematical gauge theory. We have sketched in section 6, how the group G constitutes a gauge group for the light cone bundle. It could be an interesting question, if there exist manifolds, which admit a G-structure for a fiber bundle of linear tangent cones, but don't admit a pseudo-Riemannian metric. A further interesting question going in the same direction would be, how G-structures on the lightcone bundle interfere with spin structures on the manifold under consideration. Also, one could ask, as sketched concisely in section 6, how subgroups of G that are strictly larger than the isometry subgroup are related to geometric properties. Finally, it could be interesting to analyse, how the structures described in this article are related to global geometric and topological questions in pseudo-Riemannian geometry, by investigating the topology of the light cone bundle as well as its invariants (cf. [26]).

Towards a BMS geometry? It was shown in [34, 35], that a certain conformal Carroll group of the macroscopic Minkowski light cone is given by the BMS-group. In contrast, we have shown in this article, that the conformal automorphism group of the infinitesimal light cone is given by G. The geometric relation of the original BMS group to the group G resembles hence in some sense the relation of the Poincaré group to the Lorentz group: the BMS group acts on the macroscopic light cone, as the Poincaré group acts on the macroscopic Minkowski space, and the group G acts on infinitesimal tangent light cones, as the Lorentz group acts on infinitesimal tangent Minkowski spaces. Now recall, that pseudo-Riemannian geometry can be written as a Cartan geometry (cf. [37]) based on the Poincaré and the Lorentz group. Although the structural interrelation of the group G and the BMS group seem to forbid the formulation of a Cartan geometry based on those two groups, one could still ask the question, if above geometric picture could be interpreted in similar lines, giving rise to a kind of general BMS geometry in a, possibly extended, Cartan geometric framework.

The mathematical structure of G. As said in section 4.2, a general classification of crossed homomorphisms $c: SO^+(1,3) \hookrightarrow G$ would be desirable. On the other hand, the existence of infinitely many Lorentz subgroups of G suggests, that each of those subgroups could encode in some sense the microscopic transformation properties of some geometric or physical object. A better qualitative understanding of crossed homomorphisms associated with Lorentz subgroups could hence yield also a better understanding of the interpretation

of the occurring Lorentz subgroups. Moreover, it would be very important in the context of the discussion of section 4.4, to understand, if the crossed homomorphism f that defines the isometry subgroup is in some sense intrinsically preferred by the structure of G or just extrinsically induced by the linear representation of the Lorentz group on $T_p\mathcal{M}$.

Relation to Carrollian geometry. In [34, 35] conformal Carroll groups were introduced and it was shown, that the BMS group is a conformal extension of the ultrarelativistic Carroll group (cf. [38]). Moreover, in [34] the notion of Carroll manifolds was introduced and it was shown, that the Minkowski light cone constitutes a Carroll manifold, whose conformal symmetry group is given by the BMS group. Those results are certainly related to the present analysis, but still distinct. First note, that, although the group G and the BMS group are very similar, they seem to be not isomorphic and have especially a different mathematical structure as demonstrated in section 5.2. But the most important difference is, that in our analysis infinitesimal tangent light cones were considered, whose interpretation and structure are, although similar, still different from their relatives in flat Minkowski spacetime. Although each tangent space is isomorphic to Minkowski vectorspace, Minkowski spacetime and a single tangent space are not equivalent as physical entities. Hence, their respective light cones also have different interpretations. This can be most easily seen by recapitulating from section 6, that the BMS-like group G can be considered as an eligible gauge group for a natural fiber bundle appearing on any spacetime. This result is new and does not follow from an analogous analysis in Minkowski spacetime.

Relation to residual gauge invariance in light cone gravity. The conventional BMS algebra was recently found to describe a residual gauge freedom in 4-dimensional light cone gravity ([39, 40]). It is plausible, that this result could be related to our results. Nevertheless, the exact interrelation is unclear and should be investigated in the future.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks Stefan Hofmann and Marc Schneider for inspiring discussions and for suggestions that increased the readability of the paper. Moreover, he acknowledges the Norbert Janssen foundation for financial support.

A The Lorentz-Möbius correspondence as adapted to our situation

In this section we want to explain the correspondence between the Lorentz and the Möbius group as adapted to our situation. Most of the results are adapted straightforwardly from literature, but some results are in the present form also new. To keep this section self-contained, we first review all basic facts on the Riemann sphere that are required for the understanding of this article, although they were partially already presented in the main body. This will be done in section A.1. In section A.2 we will derive a useful interpretation for bundle trivializations in \mathcal{B} . In section A.3 we will then utilize this representation for the derivation of Lorentz transformation properties (2.14), (2.16) of null vectors.

A.1 The Riemann sphere and Möbius transformations

We review the basic theory of the Riemann sphere. Our main source for this section is given by [12]. The Riemann sphere is defined as the extended complex plane, i.e.

$$\mathbb{C}_{\infty} := \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\} \tag{A.1}$$

and is coordinatized by complex numbers $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$. But for the derivation of the Lorentz-Möbius correspondence a different set of coordinates will be more convenient. Those coordinates are given by tuples $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ which are allowed to take any value other than (0,0) and will be called projective coordinates. A point $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$ on the Riemann sphere is then specified by the quotient

$$z = \xi/\eta. \tag{A.2}$$

Observe, that two tuples $(\xi_1, \eta_1), (\xi_2, \eta_2)$ represent the same $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty}$ if and only if there is an $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ such that $(\xi_1, \eta_1) = (\alpha \xi_2, \alpha \eta_2)$ holds. This is the reason, why those coordinates are called projective coordinates (cf. [12]).

The Riemann sphere \mathbb{C}_{∞} is diffeomorphic to the standard 2-sphere S^2 in terms of the stereographic projection

$$\rho: S^2 \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}, \hat{v} \mapsto \rho(\hat{v}) := \frac{\hat{v}^1 + i\hat{v}^2}{1 - \hat{v}^3}, \tag{A.3}$$

where we wrote a generic unit vector $\hat{v} \in S^2$ as $\hat{v} = (\hat{v}^1, \hat{v}^2, \hat{v}^3)$. The inverse of the stereographic projection will be denoted by $\hat{\epsilon} := \rho^{-1}$ and can be explicitly written as

$$\hat{\epsilon}: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to S^2, z \mapsto \hat{\epsilon}(z) := \left(\hat{\epsilon}^1(z), \hat{\epsilon}^2(z), \hat{\epsilon}^3(z)\right) \tag{A.4}$$

with (cf. [12]):

$$\hat{\epsilon}^{1}\left(z=\xi/\eta\right) = \frac{z+\bar{z}}{\bar{z}+1} = \frac{\xi\bar{\eta}+\eta\bar{\xi}}{\xi\bar{\xi}+\eta\bar{\eta}} \tag{A.5}$$

$$\hat{\epsilon}^2 \left(z = \xi / \eta \right) = \frac{1}{i} \frac{z - \bar{z}}{z\bar{z} + 1} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\xi \bar{\eta} - \eta \bar{\xi}}{\xi \bar{\xi} + \eta \bar{\eta}} \tag{A.6}$$

$$\hat{\epsilon}^3 \left(z = \xi/\eta \right) = \frac{z\bar{z} - 1}{z\bar{z} + 1} = \frac{\xi\bar{\xi} - \eta\bar{\eta}}{\xi\bar{\xi} + \eta\bar{\eta}} \tag{A.7}$$

By introducing the Pauli matrices $(\sigma_{\mu})_{\mu=0,\dots,3}$ defined as

$$\sigma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.8}$$

$$\sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.9}$$

and setting $\hat{\epsilon}^0(z) = 1$, we can write the relations (A.5)-(A.7) conveniently as

$$\hat{\epsilon}^{\mu}(z)\sigma_{\mu} = \frac{2}{\xi\bar{\xi} + \eta\bar{\eta}} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} \left(\bar{\xi} \ \bar{\eta}\right) \tag{A.10}$$

for $z = \xi/\eta$ (cf. [12]). We now want to introduce Möbius transformations as biholomorphic automorphisms of \mathbb{C}_{∞} that are given by (cf. [12, 16, 41, 42])

$$Z: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}_{\infty}, z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$
 (A.11)

for complex numbers $a,b,c,d\in\mathbb{C}$ satisfying ad-bc=1. Strictly speaking, the requirement ad-bc=1 is not necessary, but it is convenient, since it makes the structure of the Möbius group more lucid. Now, there exists a canonical surjective homomorphism (cf. [12]) between the group $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})=\{A\in\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}|\det(A)=1\}$ and the Möbius group, which associates to a matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \tag{A.12}$$

the Möbius transformation

$$Z^{A}(z) := \frac{az+b}{cz+d}. (A.13)$$

One can then see easily, that two matrices $A, B \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ define the same Möbius transformation, i.e. $Z^A = Z^B$, if and only if $A = \pm B$. Having this in mind, writing matrices A instead of Möbius transformations Z^A is often more practical and one gets by this an isomorphism between the Möbius group and the group $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) := \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \setminus \{\pm 1\}$. Therefore, we denote the Möbius group often just by $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$. Moreover, we denote an equivalence class of matrices [A] in $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ just by one of their representatives, i.e. [A] = A by slight abuse of notation. Observe in addition, that the action of a Möbius transformation can be easily expressed (by slight abuse of notation) in terms of projective coordinates as

$$Z^{A}\left(\xi/\eta\right) = A\begin{pmatrix} \xi\\ \eta \end{pmatrix},\tag{A.14}$$

which will be useful for the derivation of the Lorentz-Möbius correspondence. Finally we want to introduce a distance function on \mathbb{C}_{∞} given by

$$d: \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \to [0, \infty), (z_1, z_2) \mapsto \frac{2|z_1 - z_2|}{\sqrt{|z_1|^2 + 1}\sqrt{|z_2|^2 + 1}}.$$
 (A.15)

This distance function makes \mathbb{C}_{∞} to a metric space and is the so called chordal distance (cf. [43]). It is induced by the corresponding euclidean distance of the associated points on S^2 :

$$d(z_1, z_2) = |\hat{\epsilon}(z_1) - \hat{\epsilon}(z_2)| \tag{A.16}$$

The chordal distance is moreover related to a Riemannian metric on \mathbb{C}_{∞} that is explicitly given by:

$$ds^2 = \frac{4}{(1+z\bar{z})^2} dz d\bar{z} \tag{A.17}$$

This metric is compatible with the natural conformal structure that \mathbb{C}_{∞} carries as a Riemann surface (cf. [16]). The pullback of the metric (A.17) under a Möbius transformation Z^A specified by a matrix (A.12) can be easily calculated as

$$ds^{2} = K^{A}(z)^{2} \frac{4}{(1+z\bar{z})^{2}} dz d\bar{z}$$
(A.18)

where the conformal factor K^A is given by:

$$K^{A}(z) = \frac{1 + z\bar{z}}{(az+b)(\bar{a}\bar{z}+\bar{b}) + (cz+d)(\bar{c}\bar{z}+\bar{d})}$$
(A.19)

It can be written equivalently as

$$K^{A}(z) = \frac{1 + z\bar{z}}{1 + Z^{A}(z)\overline{Z^{A}(z)}} \frac{1}{(cz+d)(\bar{c}\bar{z}+\bar{d})}$$
(A.20)

or by the utilization of projective coordinates as:

$$K^{A}(z) = \frac{\left(\bar{\xi}\ \bar{\eta}\right) \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}}{\left(\bar{\xi}\ \bar{\eta}\right) A^{*} A \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}}$$
(A.21)

A.2 Spin representation of light cone bundle trivializations

We now want to utilize the results of the last section, to derive a convenient representation for local trivializations $(U, \psi^+) \in \mathcal{B}$. This representation is an original construction of this article and is especially a reinterpretation of the relation (A.10). It will then allow a very fast computation of null vector rescalings under Lorentz transformation and will hence be useful in the next subsection, where we finally present the Lorentz-Möbius correspondence as adapted to our situation. Therefore let $(U, \psi) \in \mathcal{A}$ be a local trivialization of $T\mathcal{M}$ with associated vielbein (E_{μ}) and let

$$\psi^{+}: L^{+}U \to U \times (\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^{+}), v \in T_{p} \mathscr{M} \mapsto \left(p, (z_{p}^{\psi}(v), \lambda_{p}^{\psi}(v))\right)$$
(A.22)

be the associated bundle trivialization of $L^+\mathcal{M}$ as defined in (2.10). I.e. we have explicitely:

$$z_p^{\psi}(v^{\mu}E_{\mu}) = \rho(\hat{v}) = \frac{v^1 + iv^2}{v^0 - v^3}$$
(A.23)

$$\lambda_p^{\psi}(v^{\mu}E_{\mu}) = |\vec{v}| \tag{A.24}$$

Let $p \in U$. As before, we denote the restriction of ψ^+ to $L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ by

$$\psi_p^+: L_p^+ \mathcal{M} \to L_p^+ \mathcal{M}, v \mapsto (z_p^{\psi}(v), \lambda_p^{\psi}(v)). \tag{A.25}$$

We now want to generalize the relation (A.10), such that we can use it as an implicit definition of such bundle trivializations. Therefore observe first, that by (A.10) any null vector $v \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ given in the vielbein frame (E_μ) by $v = v^\mu E_\mu$ can be written as

$$v^{\mu}\sigma_{\mu} = v^{0} \frac{2}{\xi \bar{\xi} + \eta \bar{\eta}} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} \left(\bar{\xi} \ \bar{\eta} \right) \tag{A.26}$$

for a unique tuple $(z = \xi/\eta, v^0) \in \mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. This follows just by multiplication of (A.10) with v^0 and by $|\hat{\epsilon}(z)| = 1$. Note, that the mentioned projective freedom in the coordinates (ξ, η) does not spoil the uniquenes of the representation (A.26), due to the occurrence of the factor

 $(\xi\bar{\xi}+\eta\bar{\eta})^{-1}$ on the right hand side of (A.26). Equation (A.26) gives hence a correspondence between $L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ and $\mathbb{C}_{\infty}\times\mathbb{R}^+$ associated to a vielbein frame (E_{μ}) . In this formulation, one realizes, that (A.26) is an implicit definition of the map ψ_p^+ from (A.25). I.e. one could have defined the diffeomorphism (A.25), and hence also the bundle trivialization (A.22), equivalently by demanding, that

$$v^{\mu}\sigma_{\mu} = \lambda_{p}^{\psi}(v) \frac{2}{\xi_{p}(v)\bar{\xi}_{p}(v) + \eta_{p}(v)\bar{\eta}_{p}(v)} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{p}(v) \\ \eta_{p}(v) \end{pmatrix} \left(\bar{\xi}_{p}(v) \ \bar{\eta}_{p}(v)\right)$$
(A.27)

should hold for all $v \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ with $v = v^{\mu} E_{\mu}$. Here, we have set $z_p^{\psi}(v) =: \xi_p(v)/\eta_p(v)$. This relation (A.27) will be called the spin representation of the local bundle trivialization (A.25) and will be very useful in the next subsection.

A.3 The Lorentz-Möbius correspondence and associated null vector rescalings

We now present the well known correspondence between the Lorentz group $SO^+(1,3)$ and the Möbius group $PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ as adapted to our situation. The ideas of this section come from [12] but are of course adapted to our situation. However, the utilization of the spin representions (A.10) and (A.27) for the derivation of null vector rescalings under Lorentz transformations is, to the best of our knowledge, an original development of this article. Therefore we fix again a $p \in \mathcal{M}$ and a vielbein frame (E_{μ}) associated to a local trivialization $(U, \psi) \in \mathcal{A}$ with $p \in U$. Let now $v \in L_p^+ \mathcal{M}$ be a null vector with $v = v^{\mu} E_{\mu}$. Then, as explained in the last subsection, the induced coordinate system

$$\psi_p^+: L_p^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{C}_\infty \times \mathbb{R}^+, v \mapsto \left(z_p^\psi(v), \lambda_p^\psi(v)\right)$$
 (A.28)

given by (A.25) is implicitely defined by the relation (A.27). Now forget first about the right hand side of (A.27). The well known correspondence between the Lorentz- and the Möbius group states then (cf. [12, 13]), that there is 1-to-1-correspondence between Lorentz transformations $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$ and matrices $A_{\Lambda} \in PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ such that

$$(\Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu}v^{\nu}\sigma_{\mu}) = A_{\Lambda} (v^{\mu}\sigma_{\mu}) A_{\Lambda}^{*} \tag{A.29}$$

holds for any $(v^{\mu}) \in \mathbb{R}^4$. The map $\Lambda \mapsto A_{\Lambda}$ constitutes then the isomorphism $SO^+(1,3) \cong PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ (cf. [12, 13]). By considering now again the right hand side of (A.27), we are then able to derive, how an active local Lorentz transformation induces a transformation on $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Therefore let $\Lambda \in SO^+(1,3)$ be a Lorentz transformation and set $w = w^{\mu}E_{\mu} \in L_p^+\mathcal{M}$ with:

$$w^{\mu} = \Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu} v^{\nu} \tag{A.30}$$

Set further $z_p^{\psi}(v) = \xi/\eta$. We then can write by (A.27) and (A.29):

$$(w^{\mu}\sigma_{\mu}) = \lambda_{p}^{\psi}(v) \frac{2}{\xi \bar{\xi} + \eta \bar{\eta}} A_{\Lambda} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} (\bar{\xi} \ \bar{\eta}) A_{\Lambda}^{*}$$
 (A.31)

Set now

$$\begin{pmatrix} \xi' \\ \eta' \end{pmatrix} := A_{\Lambda} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}. \tag{A.32}$$

Then, (A.31) can be equally written as:

$$w^{\mu}\sigma_{\mu} = \left(\lambda_{p}^{\psi}(v)\frac{\xi'\bar{\xi}' + \eta'\bar{\eta}'}{\xi\bar{\xi} + \eta\bar{\eta}}\right)\frac{2}{\xi'\bar{\xi}' + \eta'\bar{\eta}'}\begin{pmatrix} \xi'\\ \eta' \end{pmatrix}\left(\bar{\xi}'\ \bar{\eta}'\right) \tag{A.33}$$

This gives then, by defining the Möbius transformation $Z_{\Lambda} := Z^{A_{\Lambda}}$:

$$z_p^{\psi}(w) = Z_{\Lambda}(z_p^{\psi}(v)) \tag{A.34}$$

$$\lambda_p^{\psi}(w) = \lambda_p^{\psi}(v) \frac{\xi' \bar{\xi}' + \eta' \bar{\eta}'}{\xi \bar{\xi} + \eta \bar{\eta}}$$
(A.35)

Define then for each $A \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ the map

$$f^{A}(z) := \frac{\left(\bar{\xi} \ \bar{\eta}\right) A^{*} A \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}}{\left(\bar{\xi} \ \bar{\eta}\right) \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}},\tag{A.36}$$

which is just the inverse of the conformal factor (6.11), i.e. $f^A(z) = K^A(z)^{-1}$. We then can write (A.34)–(A.35) equally as

$$z_p^{\psi}(w) = Z_{\Lambda}(z_p^{\psi}(v)) \tag{A.37}$$

$$\lambda_p^{\psi}(w) = \lambda_p^{\psi}(v) f_{\Lambda}(z_p^{\psi}(v)) \tag{A.38}$$

where we have defined

$$f_{\Lambda}(Z) := f^{A_{\Lambda}}(z). \tag{A.39}$$

By this we have derived transformation formulas for coordinate systems $\psi^+ \in \mathcal{B}$ under local Lorentz transformations. Now recall, that $\lambda_p^{\psi}(w) = w^0 = |\vec{w}|$ and $\lambda_p^{\psi}(v) = v^0 = |\vec{v}|$. By this we then can summarize this finding in a more colloquial language: any active Lorentz transformation

$$v^{\mu}E_{\mu} \mapsto (\Lambda^{\mu}_{\ \nu}w^{\nu})E_{\mu} \tag{A.40}$$

corresponds to a unique Möbius transformation

$$z \mapsto Z_{\Lambda}(z)$$
 (A.41)

on the Riemann sphere, together with a direction dependent rescaling

$$v^0 \mapsto w^0 = v^0 f_{\Lambda}(\rho(\hat{v})). \tag{A.42}$$

As it stands, it seems a little bit surprising, that the function f^A which determines the rescaling is just the inverse of the conformal factor (6.11), i.e. $f_A(z) = K_A^{-1}(z)$. But the reason for this was explained in section 4.3.2.

B Prerequisites from group theory

We introduce some concepts from group theory, that are needed for our investigation. Especially we will introduce the notion of right semidirect product groups in section B.1 and will explain in section B.2, how certain subgroups of right semidirect product groups can be parametrized in terms of so called crossed homomorphisms.

B.1 Right semidirect product groups

We first introduce the appropriate notion of a semidirect product of groups. Let P, Q be two groups and let

$$\tilde{\kappa}: P \to \operatorname{Aut}(Q), p \mapsto \tilde{\kappa}_p$$
 (B.1)

be a group antihomomorphism. The latter is equivalent to the statement, that $\tilde{\kappa}$ defines a right group action of P on Q that acts on Q in terms of automorphisms. We then define the right semidirect product of P and Q with respect to $\tilde{\kappa}$, denoted by $P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q$, as follows (cf. [44–46]):

- 1. The underlying set is given by the cartesian product $P \times Q$.
- 2. The group operation is given by:

$$(p_1, q_1)(p_2, q_2) = (p_1 p_2, \tilde{\kappa}_{p_2}(q_1) q_2)$$
(B.2)

- 3. The identity element is given by (e_P, e_Q) , where e_P and e_Q are the respective identity elements of P and Q.
- 4. The inverse element of (p,q) is given by $(p^{-1}, \tilde{\kappa}_{p^{-1}}(q^{-1}))$.

Left and right semidirect products are equivalent, in the same way as left and right actions are equivalent (cf. [45]). Nevertheless, a right semidirect product will be more instructive in the present situation. Please note in addition, that it is of greatest importance, that $\tilde{\kappa}$ acts on Q in terms of automorphisms and especially, that $\tilde{\kappa}_p$ preserves the unit element of Q for any $p \in P$, since otherwise $P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q$ would not even constitute a group. For later use, we also want to define the canonical projection

$$\pi_{\tilde{\kappa}}: P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q \to P, (p, q) \mapsto p.$$
 (B.3)

B.2 Crossed homomorphisms

Let P denote an arbitrary group, let Q denote an abelian group and let $P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q$ denote their right semidirect product with respect to an antihomomorphism $\tilde{\kappa}: P \to Q$. Then one can show (cf. [47, 48] and p. 88 of [49]), that crossed homomorphisms, ⁶ defined as maps

$$c: P \to Q, p \mapsto c_p$$
 (B.4)

which satisfy

$$\forall p_1, p_2 \in P : c_{p_1 p_2} = \tilde{\kappa}_{p_2}(c_{p_1})c_{p_2}, \tag{B.5}$$

parametrize homomorphic sections of the canonical projection

$$\pi_{\tilde{\kappa}}: P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q \to P.$$
 (B.6)

This means, they parametrize injective group homomorphisms

$$i_c: P \hookrightarrow P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q$$
 (B.7)

⁶Our definition of a crossed homomorphism is adapted to the occurring right semidirect product. Actually, it should be called a crossed antihomomorphism.

which satisfy $\pi_{\tilde{\kappa}} \circ i = \text{id}$ (i.e. homomorphic embeddings of the group P into the semidirect product $P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q$) by sending:

$$i_c: P \hookrightarrow P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q, p \mapsto (p, c_p)$$
 (B.8)

By this, there is a 1-to-1-correspondence between subgroups $P \subset P \ltimes_{\tilde{\kappa}} Q$ and crossed homomorphisms c (cf. [47, 49]).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- [1] H. Bondi, Gravitational Waves in General Relativity, Nature 186 (1960) 535 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R. Sachs, Asymptotic symmetries in gravitational theory, Phys. Rev. 128 (1962) 2851 [INSPIRE].
- [3] H. Bondi, M.G.J. van der Burg and A.W.K. Metzner, Gravitational waves in general relativity. VII. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 269 (1962) 21 [arXiv:1962.0161] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Winicour, Characteristic Evolution and Matching, Living Rev. Rel. 15 (2012) 2 [INSPIRE].
- [5] N.T. Bishop and L. Rezzolla, Extraction of Gravitational Waves in Numerical Relativity, Living Rev. Rel. 19 (2016) 2 [arXiv:1606.02532] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S. Pasterski and H. Verlinde, Mapping SYK to the sky, JHEP 09 (2022) 047[arXiv:2201.05054] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Strominger, Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, Princeton University Press (2018) [DOI:10.23943/9781400889853].
- [8] A. Ashtekar, Geometry and physics of null infinity, Surveys Diff. Geom. 20 (2015) 99.
- [9] A. Ashtekar, M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Null infinity, the BMS group and infrared issues, Gen. Rel. Grav. 50 (2018) 140 [arXiv:1808.07093] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R. Penrose, Zero rest mass fields including gravitation: Asymptotic behavior, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 284 (1965) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [11] S.M. Carroll, *Spacetime and Geometry*, Cambridge University Press (2019) [D0I:10.1017/9781108770385].
- [12] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, *Spinors and Space-Time*, Cambridge Univiveristy Press, Cambridge, U.K. (2011) [D0I:10.1017/CB09780511564048] [INSPIRE].
- [13] B. Oblak, From the Lorentz Group to the Celestial Sphere, arXiv:1508.00920 [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Strominger and A. Zhiboedov, Gravitational Memory, BMS Supertranslations and Soft Theorems, JHEP 01 (2016) 086 [arXiv:1411.5745] [INSPIRE].
- [15] E. Poisson, A Relativist's Toolkit: The Mathematics of Black-Hole Mechanics, Cambridge University Press (2004) [DOI:10.1017/CB09780511606601].

- [16] J. Jost, Compact Riemann Surfaces: An Introduction to Contemporary Mathematics, Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2006) [DOI:10.1007/978-3-540-33067-7].
- [17] M.J.D. Hamilton, Mathematical Gauge Theory: With Applications to the Standard Model of Particle Physics, Springer International Publishing (2017) [DOI:10.1007/978-3-319-68439-0_8].
- [18] R. Geroch, Asymptotic Structure of Space-Time, in Asymptotic Structure of Space-Time, Springer US (1977), p. 1–105 [DOI:10.1007/978-1-4684-2343-3_1].
- [19] T. Mädler and J. Winicour, Bondi-Sachs Formalism, Scholarpedia 11 (2016) 33528 [arXiv:1609.01731] [INSPIRE].
- [20] L. Brewin, Riemann normal coordinates, smooth lattices and numerical relativity, Class. Quant. Grav. 15 (1998) 3085 [gr-qc/9701057] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. Sternberg, Curvature in Mathematics and Physics, Dover Pubications, Incorporated (2012) [ISBN: 9780486478555].
- [22] F. Alessio and G. Esposito, On the structure and applications of the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs group, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 15 (2018) 1830002 [arXiv:1709.05134] [INSPIRE].
- [23] V. Cantoni, A Class of Representations of the Generalized Bondi—Metzner Group, J. Math. Phys. 7 (1966) 1361.
- [24] P.J. McCarthy, Structure of the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs Group, J. Math. Phys. 13 (1972) 1837.
- [25] R.P. Geroch and E.T. Newman, Application of the semidirect product of groups, J. Math. Phys. 12 (1971) 314 [INSPIRE].
- [26] N. Steenrod, The Topology of Fibre Bundles, Princeton University Press (1999) [ISBN: 9780691005485].
- [27] H. Baum, Eichfeldtheorie, Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2014) [DOI:10.1007/978-3-642-38539-1].
- [28] R. Penrose, Relativistic Symmetry Groups, in Group Theory in Non-Linear Problems, Springer Netherlands (1974), p. 1–58 [DOI:10.1007/978-94-010-2144-9_1].
- [29] A. Ashtekar, Radiative Degrees of Freedom of the Gravitational Field in Exact General Relativity, J. Math. Phys. 22 (1981) 2885 [INSPIRE].
- [30] S. Carlip, Dimension and Dimensional Reduction in Quantum Gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 193001 [arXiv:1705.05417] [INSPIRE].
- [31] V.A. Belinsky, I.M. Khalatnikov and E.M. Lifshitz, Oscillatory approach to a singular point in the relativistic cosmology, Adv. Phys. 19 (1970) 525 [INSPIRE].
- [32] G. Dautcourt, On the ultrarelativistic limit of general relativity, Acta Phys. Polon. B 29 (1998) 1047 [gr-qc/9801093] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J.R. Klauder, Ultralocal scalar field models, Commun. Math. Phys. 18 (1970) 307 [INSPIRE].
- [34] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P.A. Horvathy, Conformal Carroll groups and BMS symmetry, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 092001 [arXiv:1402.5894] [INSPIRE].
- [35] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P.A. Horvathy, Conformal Carroll groups, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 335204 [arXiv:1403.4213] [INSPIRE].
- [36] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons, P.A. Horvathy and P.M. Zhang, Carroll versus Newton and Galilei: two dual non-Einsteinian concepts of time, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 085016 [arXiv:1402.0657] [INSPIRE].

- [37] R.W. Sharpe and S.S. Chern, Differential Geometry: Cartan's Generalization of Klein's Erlangen Program, Springer New York (2000) [ISBN: 9780387947327].
- [38] H. Bacry and J. Levy-Leblond, Possible kinematics, J. Math. Phys. 9 (1968) 1605 [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Ananth, L. Brink and S. Majumdar, Bondi-Metzner-Sachs algebra as an extension of the Poincaré symmetry in light-cone gravity, JHEP 07 (2021) 129 [arXiv:2012.07880] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Ananth, L. Brink and S. Majumdar, *BMS algebra from residual gauge invariance in light-cone gravity*, *JHEP* 11 (2021) 008 [arXiv:2101.00019] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S. Donaldson, *Riemann Surfaces*, Oxford University Press, Oxford (2011) [D0I:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198526391.001.0001].
- [42] K. Knopp and F. Bagemihl, *Elements of the Theory of Functions*, Dover Publications (2016) [ISBN: 9780486601540].
- [43] E. Hille, Analytic Function Theory, in A Blaisdell book in the pure and applied science, Chelsea Publishing Company (1973).
- [44] L. Colombo and H.O. Jacobs, Lagrangian Mechanics on Centered Semi-direct Products, in Geometry, Mechanics, and Dynamics, D. Chang, D. Holm, G. Patrick, T. Ratiu eds., Springer New York (2015), p. 167–184 [DOI:10.1007/978-1-4939-2441-7_9].
- [45] NCatlab, page on semidirect product group, https://ncatlab.org/nlab/show/semidirect+product+group [Accessed: 2023-01-03].
- [46] Encyclopedia of Mathematics, page on semidirect product, https://encyclopediaofmath.org/wiki/Semi-direct_product [Accessed: 2023-02-05].
- [47] NCatlab, page on crossed homomorphism, https://ncatlab.org/nlab/show/crossed+homomorphism [2023-01-03].
- [48] Encyclopedia of Mathematics, page on crossed homomorphism, http://encyclopediaofmath.org/index.php?title=Crossed_homomorphism&oldid=52060 [Accessed: 2023-01-03].
- [49] K.S. Brown, *Cohomology of Groups*, Springer New York (2012) [DOI:10.1007/978-1-4684-9327-6].